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Day for the fifth consecutive year. A total of 54 children 
followed their parents to the office and spent a thrilling 
day being entertained with games, a magic show, balloon 
sculpting, a movie and party food. Best of all for the children 
and their parents, it was the opportunity of spending quality 
time together on an otherwise work-day.   

As Hyflux continues to evolve and grow, our employees will 
have tremendous career development and progression 
opportunities. We are committed to their learning and 
development, and invest in a range of training programmes 
relevant to employees at different career stages, job 

GLOBAL WORKFORCE
Distribution by regions, 2012 (%)

Singapore

India

China

MENA & Others

Malaysia

1.1%
1.1%
3.5%

51.5%42.8%

Distribution by gender, 2012 (%)

Male

Female

74.1%

25.9%

rotation and overseas postings to equip them with in-depth 
experience and build skills that are crucial to our ever-
growing operations and long-term success. We also run the 
Hyflux Helping Hands Fund to provide financial assistance, 
scholarships and bursaries to employees with financial 
difficulties. 

We engage employees through regular dialogue sessions 
between senior management and employees, the company 
intranet, workshops and work-life balance programmes. 
Our employee-run club Hyfun, made up of representatives 
from various departments, organises activities that foster 
interaction and bonding. 

Outstanding employees are recognised for the significant 
contributions made to the company with the annual CEO 
Award. Five employees from our office in Singapore 
received the award in 2012.

ENVIRONMENT

Hyflux plays a part in sustainable development by helping 
to meet the world’s growing water needs in environmentally 
and socially responsible ways. Our water solutions ease 
the strain on water resources by enabling industries and 
communities to tap on non-traditional sources such as 
used water and seawater, and limit environmental impact 
by treating wastewater before it is released into the natural 
environment.

At the same time, we are also conscious about water 
consumption in our operations. To reduce the amount of 
water consumed, innovative greywater recycling systems 

"Bring Your Child To Work" Day
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using Hyflux’s proprietary membranes have been installed at 
HIC and at Hyflux Production Hub – to tap on wastewater for 
re-use.

For our efforts in incorporating best practices in 
environmental design and construction and the adoption 
of green building technologies, including meeting the key 
criteria of energy efficiency, water efficiency, environmental 
protection, indoor environmental quality and other green 
and innovative features that contribute to better building 
performance, HIC was awarded the BCA Green Mark 
Platinum Award in May 2012. The BCA Green Mark Platinum 
Award meets the most stringent criteria set by the Building & 
Construction Authority of Singapore.

We continuously seek to improve the efficiency of water 
and wastewater treatment methods through innovative 
design, layout and processes so that we can mitigate the 
effects of our activities on the surroundings. By enhancing 
the performance of our membrane products and water 
treatment plants, we are able to deliver high quality water 
for domestic and industrial use at better energy efficiency, 
smaller plant footprint, lower chemical requirements, and 
lower costs.

At Hyflux, we are passionate about continually creating 
solutions to make water clean, safe, accessible and 
affordable for all.

HEALTH & SAFETY

It is our mission to create an accident-free environment 
and nurture a safety culture that keeps our employees and 
contractors safe at every Hyflux facility and project. Our 
approach is guided by a health and safety management 
system which has been certified to OHSAS18001 standards. 

With a workforce that comes from different cultures and 
countries, it is important that the concept of safety is 
easy to understand and follow and becomes a way of 
life for everyone. Safety practices are integrated into our 
work processes and emphasis is placed on personal and 
collective accountability. 

To support Hyflux’s aim of an accident-free environment, 
our Environment, Safety and Health Committee continues 
to promote initiatives to strengthen our safety culture and 
reward positive safety performance and behaviour. 

COMMUNITY

Hyflux seeks to contribute in meaningful ways to the local 
communities in which we operate by supporting a variety 

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT SPENDING, 
2012 (%)

Community

Others

Education/ 
Entrepreneurship

Environment57%
20%

16%

7%

of initiatives close to our heart: the environment, education, 
entrepreneurship and community relations.

Hyflux believes that a good education will help to set the 
foundation for the future. The knowledge and skills that 
children learn in school today will determine whether we as 
a society can meet our greatest challenges in the years to 
come. We continued to partner educational institutions in 
the sponsorship of scholarships, bursaries and book prizes 
so that deserving students continued to have access to 
quality education.

For the second year running, a Hyflux contingent marched 
in the National Day Parade held at The Float @ Marina Bay 
to celebrate our nation’s 47th birthday. For more than 20 
members of our 42-strong contingent, it was their second 
time marching under the Hyflux flag.

Some 49 runners among our employees participated in the 
JP Morgan Chase Corporate Challenge for a 5.6 km race to 
raise funds for charity. 

In 2012, our corporate social responsibility efforts also took 
on the added dimension of staff volunteerism. 

During the year, some of our employees started volunteering 
to read and organise activities for the KIDSRead programme 
under the Asian Women’s Welfare Association’s (AWWA) 
family service centre in our neighbourhood. The weekly 
reading programme, targeted at pre-schoolers from less 
advantaged families, gives them exposure to the English 
language and seeks to cultivate their interest in reading at 
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an early age. This meaningful project enables us to reach 
out and engage the community around us, and we intend to 
commit to it for a second year.

In September, we participated in the NTUC FairPrice Walk 
for Rice @ Southeast. We organised a 4.3 km walk from 
Hyflux Innovation Centre to the Singapore Flyer. For every 
100 m that each of our staff walked, NTUC FairPrice donated 
a bowl of rice to some 7,000 needy families. We covered a 
total distance of 967.5 km and raised 9,675 bowls of rice. 

Towards the end of the year, we also organised a charity 
car wash together with Yong-en Care Centre. We managed 
to raise more than $20,000 to support the activities of the 
centre which runs a dementia day care centre, home care 
and counseling services as well as seeing to the needs of 
seniors and low-income families.

We will continue to foster the spirit of volunteerism among 
our employees. Just as we have been able to grow through 
the opportunities that were presented to us in our early days, 
we hope to reciprocate and make a difference in the lives of 
others by devoting time and energy in addition to corporate 
philanthropy. 

Just as we have been able to grow through the opportunities that were presented 
to us in our early days, we hope to reciprocate and make a difference in the lives of 
others by devoting time and energy in addition to corporate philanthropy.

CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

Hyflux supports Walk for Rice to raise bowls of rice for the needy 

Hyflux employees wash cars for charity
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2012 was a year characterised by global economic volatility. 
This led to delays in planned municipal infrastructure 
investments for a second consecutive year. 

During the year, Hyflux’s senior management and investor 
relations team reassured and informed the investment 
community of Hyflux’s financial discipline and typical 
financing model for large-scale water projects. The strategic 
decision to use corporate funding through a combination 
of the proceeds from preference shares issued in 2011 
and medium term notes for the Tuaspring project was 
taken in anticipation of the tight project timeline to deliver 
the desalination plant by 2013, as requested by PUB. This 
corporate funding route was chosen to provide a suitable 
bridge financing strategy until the desalination plant of the 
Tuaspring project was close to completion. Hyflux is currently 
in discussions with many financial institutions to put in place 
long-term non-recourse project financing. When this project 
financing exercise is completed, we will be in an even 
stronger financial position to capture more opportunities in 
the global water industry. 

Our investor relations efforts are guided by the principle of 
providing clear, consistent and timely information about the 
company’s performance, strategies and business outlook to 
facilitate informed investment decisions, nurture continued 
confidence in the company and foster strong, enduring 
relations with the investment community. 

Hyflux uses multiple communication channels such as 
shareholder meetings, briefings to analysts, investors and 
the media, conference calls, investor conferences and 
the investor relations website to achieve this. All financial 
information, announcements, briefing materials to analysts 
and the media as well as annual reports are made available 
on www.hyflux.com.

In FY2012, the directors have recommended a final dividend 
of 2.50 cents per ordinary share. This, together with the interim 
dividend of 0.70 cents paid earlier in the year, brings the 
total dividend for FY2012 to 3.20 cents per ordinary share.

Our investor relations efforts are guided by the principle of providing clear, consistent 
and timely information about the company’s performance, strategies and business 
outlook to facilitate informed investment decisions, nurture continued confidence in 
the company and foster strong, enduring relations with the investment community. 
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We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2012.

Directors

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin Executive Chairman and Group CEO
Teo Kiang Kok
Lee Joo Hai
Gay Chee Cheong
Christopher Murugasu
Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta
Simon Tay
Gary Kee Eng Kwee

Directors’ interests

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act), 
particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those held by their spouses and infant 
children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company are as follows:

Direct interest Deemed interest
Name of director and 
corporation in which interests 
are held

At beginning
of the year

At end
of the year

At 
21 January

 2013
At beginning

of the year
At end

of the year

At 
21 January

 2013

The Company
Ordinary shares

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin 252,351,211 267,351,211 267,351,211 15,000,000 – –
Teo Kiang Kok – – – 375,000 375,000 375,000
Gay Chee Cheong 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 – – –
Christopher Murugasu 842,343 926,718 926,718 180,000 180,000 180,000

Preference shares

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin 8,020 8,020 8,020 – – –
Teo Kiang Kok 3,000 3,000 3,000 – – –
Gay Chee Cheong 12,000 12,000 12,000 – – –
Christopher Murugasu 1,000 1,000 1,000 – – –
Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta – – – 20,000 20,000 20,000
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Direct interest Deemed interest
Name of director and 
corporation in which interests 
are held

At beginning
of the year

At end
of the year

At 
21 January

 2013
At beginning

of the year
At end

of the year

At 
21 January

 2013

The Company
Share options (2001 Scheme)

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin 6,750,000 6,750,000 6,750,000 – – –
Teo Kiang Kok 425,000 425,000 425,000 – – –
Lee Joo Hai 425,000 425,000 425,000 – – –
Gay Chee Cheong 425,000 425,000 425,000 – – –
Christopher Murugasu 678,125 593,750 593,750 – – –
Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta 425,000 425,000 425,000 – – –

Share options (2011 Scheme)

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin 8,598,000 8,598,000 8,598,000 – – –
Teo Kiang Kok – 50,000 50,000 – – –
Lee Joo Hai – 50,000 50,000 – – –
Gay Chee Cheong – 50,000 50,000 – – –
Christopher Murugasu – 50,000 50,000 – – –
Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta – 50,000 50,000 – – –
Simon Tay – 50,000 50,000 – – –
Gary Kee Eng Kwee – 50,000 50,000 – – –

By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Olivia Lum Ooi Lin is deemed to have interests in the other subsidiaries of the Company, at the 
beginning and at the end of the financial year.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, debentures, 
warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning or at the end of the financial year.

There were no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year and 21 
January 2013, except as disclosed above.

Except as disclosed under the “Share Options” section of this report, neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial 
year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the 
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Except salaries, bonuses and fees and those benefits that are disclosed in this report and in note 32 to the financial statements, 
since the end of the last financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive, a benefit by reason of a contract 
made by the Company or a related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which 
he has a substantial financial interest.
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Share options

The Hyflux Employees’ Share Option Scheme (the 2001 Scheme) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members at an 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 27 September 2001.

On 24 November 2003, the members of the Company approved a modification to the 2001 Scheme which allowed Olivia Lum Ooi 
Lin, Executive Chairman and Group CEO, and a substantial shareholder of the Company, to participate in the 2001 Scheme.  The 
maximum entitlement of Olivia Lum Ooi Lin is 10% of the total number of shares which may be issued by the Company under the 
2001 Scheme.

The 2001 Scheme expired on 26 September 2011.

On 27 April 2011, the members of the Company approved the implementation of new share option scheme (the 2011 Scheme) 
to replace the 2001 Scheme that expired on 26 September 2011 and allowed Olivia Lum Ooi Lin, Executive Chairman and Group 
CEO, and a substantial shareholder of the Company, to participate in the 2011 Scheme. The implementation of the 2011 Scheme 
and replacement of expired scheme do not affect the rights of holders of the options under the expired scheme.  The maximum 
entitlement of Olivia Lum Ooi Lin is 10% of the total number of shares which may be issued by the Company under the 2011 
Scheme.  The aggregate number of scheme shares available to Olivia Lum Ooi Lin and her associates (as defined in the Listing 
Manual of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST's Listing Manual)) shall not exceed 25% of the total number of 
scheme shares available under the 2011 Scheme.  

The 2011 Scheme is administered by the Company’s Remuneration Committee.  It has been in force since 27 September 2011 and 
shall expire on 26 September 2021.
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Except as discussed above, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under options granted by the 
Company or its subsidiaries as at the end of the financial year.

Details of options granted to directors of the Company under the 2001 Scheme and 2011 Scheme (collectively as the Schemes) are 
as follows:

Name of director

Options 
granted for 

the financial 
year ended

31 December 2012

Aggregate 
options

granted since
commencement of

Schemes to
31 December 2012

Aggregate 
options

exercised since
commencement

of Schemes to
31 December 2012

Aggregate 
options

outstanding as at
31 December 2012

2001 Scheme
Olivia Lum Ooi Lin – 6,750,000 – 6,750,000
Teo Kiang Kok – 800,000 (375,000) 425,000
Lee Joo Hai – 800,000 (375,000) 425,000
Gay Chee Cheong – 725,000 (300,000) 425,000
Christopher Murugasu – 1,409,375 (815,625) 593,750
Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta – 425,000 – 425,000
Total – 10,909,375 (1,865,625) 9,043,750

2011 Scheme
Olivia Lum Ooi Lin – 8,598,000 – 8,598,000
Teo Kiang Kok 50,000 50,000 – 50,000
Lee Joo Hai 50,000 50,000 – 50,000
Gay Chee Cheong 50,000 50,000 – 50,000
Christopher Murugasu 50,000 50,000 – 50,000
Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta 50,000 50,000 – 50,000
Simon Tay 50,000 50,000 – 50,000
Gary Kee Eng Kwee 50,000 50,000 – 50,000
Total 350,000 8,948,000 – 8,948,000

Except as disclosed in this report, since the commencement of the Schemes to the end of the financial year:

•	 No options have been granted to the controlling shareholders of the Company or their associates;

•	 No participant has been granted 5% or more of the total options available under the Schemes;

•	 No options have been granted to directors and employees of the holding company and its related corporations under the 
Schemes;

•	 No options that entitle the holders of the options to participate, by virtue of such holding, to any share issue of any other 
corporation have been granted; and

•	 The exercise price of the options is set at the market price, as defined in the Schemes, at the time of grant.  No options have 
been granted at a discount.
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Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this report are:

Lee Joo Hai (Chairman), non-executive independent director
Gay Chee Cheong, non-executive independent director
Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta, non-executive independent director
Gary Kee Eng Kwee, non-executive non-independent director

The members of the Audit Committee, collectively, have expertise and extensive experience in accounting, financial management 
and business, and are qualified to discharge the Audit Committee’s responsibilities.

The primary functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

1.	 assists the Board in discharging its statutory responsibilities on financial and accounting matters;

2.	 reviews the financial and operating results and accounting policies of the Group;

3.	 reviews significant financial reporting issues and judgements relating to financial statements for each financial year, interim 
and annual results announcement before submission to the Board for approval;

4.	 reviews the adequacy of the Company’s internal control (financial and operational) and risk management policies and 
systems established by the management;

5.	 reviews the audit plans and reports of the external and internal auditors and considers the effectiveness of the actions taken 
by the management on the auditors’ recommendations;

6.	 appraises and reports to the Board on the audits undertaken by the external and internal auditors, the adequacy of the 
disclosure of information, and the appropriateness and quality of the system of management and internal controls; 

7.	 reviews the independence of external auditors annually and considers the appointment or re-appointment of external 
auditors, reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees and matters relating to the resignation or removal of the auditors and 
approves the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors; and

8.	 reviews interested person transactions, as defined in the SGX-ST's Listing Manual.

The Audit Committee has held 4 meetings since the last directors’ report.  In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit Committee 
receives regular reports from the management.  The Audit Committee has full access to and co-operation of the management and 
meets with KPMG LLP in private at least once a year, and more frequently if necessary.
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The Audit Committee has explicit authority within the scope of its responsibilities to seek any information it requires or investigate 
any matter within its terms of reference.  The Audit Committee has adequate resources to enable it to discharge its responsibilities 
properly.

The Board has put in place a confidential communication programme as endorsed by the Audit Committee.  Employees may, in 
confidence, raise concerns about possible corporate improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters and to ensure 
that arrangements are in place for the independent investigations of such matters and for appropriate follow-up actions.  The 
details of the confidential communication policies and arrangements have been made available to all employees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to the 
Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

In appointing our auditors for the Company, subsidiaries and significant associates, we have complied with Rules 712, 715 and 716 
of the SGX-ST's Listing Manual.

Auditors

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin
Executive Chairman and Group CEO

Teo Kiang Kok
Director

25 March 2013
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

In our opinion:

(a)	 the financial statements set out on pages 39 to 114 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2012 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for 
the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b)	 at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin
Executive Chairman and Group CEO

Teo Kiang Kok
Director

25 March 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

MEMBERS OF THE COMPANY 
HYFLUX LTD

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Hyflux Ltd (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2012, the income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 39 to 114.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising 
and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary 
to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company are 
properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards to give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2012 and the results, changes in equity and cash 
flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
25 March 2013
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STATEMENTS OF  FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2012

Group Company
Note 2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 207,071 188,571 – –
Intangible assets 5 42,444 43,876 – –
Intangible assets arising from service concession 

arrangements 6 360,366 154,937 – –
Investments in subsidiaries 7 – – 177,420 169,420
Investments in joint ventures 8 – – 3,125 3,125
Investments in associates 9 104,092 108,887 14,109 13,704
Financial receivables 10 704,811 418,320 – –
Trade and other receivables 11 14,594 15,552 760,736 445,312
Deferred tax assets 12 2,050 2,829 – –
Total non-current assets 1,435,428 932,972 955,390 631,561

Current assets
Gross amounts due for contract work 13 119,059 176,910 – –
Inventories 14 32,456 24,195 – –
Financial receivables 10 12,548 4,937 – –
Trade and other receivables, including derivatives 11 209,621 231,093 490,628 729,141
Cash and cash equivalents 15 541,232 662,358 176,216 96,407
Total current assets 914,916 1,099,493 666,844 825,548

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables, including derivatives 16 318,205 227,840 34,813 135,567
Loans and borrowings 17 64,435 118,121 10,000 88,438
Tax payable 9,152 10,262 2,868 2,983
Total current liabilities 391,792 356,223 47,681 226,988

Net current assets 523,124 743,270 619,163 598,560

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 17 1,054,306 712,301 908,519 573,811
Deferred tax liabilities 12 27,217 28,374 – –
Total non-current liabilities 1,081,523 740,675 908,519 573,811

Net assets 877,029 935,567 666,034 656,310

Equity
Share capital 605,196 604,740 605,196 604,740
Reserve for own shares (51,484) (4,461) (51,484) (4,461)
Capital reserve 9,094 6,467 1,858 796
Foreign currency translation reserve (30,480) 3,635 – –
Hedging reserve 656 (3,996) – –
Employees’ share option reserve 22,457 19,647 22,457 19,647
Retained earnings 305,154 294,559 88,007 35,588
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 860,593 920,591 666,034 656,310
Non-controlling interests 16,436 14,976 – –
Total equity 18 877,029 935,567 666,034 656,310

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



40

ANNUAL REPORT 2012
HYFLUX LTD

40

ANNUAL REPORT 2012
HYFLUX LTD

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2012

Note 2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Revenue 21 682,384 481,975
Other income 6,964 8,064
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress 792 (408)
Raw materials and consumables used and subcontractors’ cost (413,496) (259,473)
Staff costs (85,924) (60,040)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (29,392) (36,637)
Other expenses (60,123) (50,067)
Finance costs 22 (28,460) (22,597)
Share of profit of associates, net of income tax 4,253 1,226
Profit before income tax 23 76,998 62,043
Tax expense 24 (12,285) (6,318)
Profit for the year 64,713 55,725

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 60,994 53,027
Non-controlling interests 3,719 2,698
Profit for the year 64,713 55,725

Earnings per share (cents)
Basic earnings per share 25 4.43 4.30
Diluted earnings per share 25 4.42 4.28

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2012

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Profit for the year 64,713 55,725

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations (35,609) 18,831
Share of hedging reserve of associates 499 342
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 3,001 (778)
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit or loss 1,152 –
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax (30,957) 18,395
Total comprehensive income for the year 33,756 74,120

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 31,072 70,863
Non-controlling interests 2,684 3,257
Total comprehensive income for the year 33,756 74,120

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2012
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2012

N
o

te
S

h
ar

e
ca

p
it

al

R
e

se
rv

e
fo

r 
o

w
n

 
sh

ar
e

s
C

ap
it

al
re

se
rv

e

Fo
re

ig
n

cu
rr

e
n

cy
 

tr
an

sl
at

io
n

 r
e

se
rv

e
H

e
d

g
in

g
 

re
se

rv
e

E
m

p
lo

ye
e

s’
sh

ar
e

o
p

ti
o

n
re

se
rv

e
R

e
ta

in
e

d
 e

ar
n

in
g

s

To
ta

l e
q

u
it

y
at

tr
ib

u
ta

b
le

to
 o

w
n

e
rs

 
o

f 
th

e
C

o
m

p
an

y

N
o

n
-

co
n

tr
o

ll
in

g
in

te
re

st
s

To
ta

l
e

q
u

it
y

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

G
ro

u
p

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
n

s 
w

it
h

 
o

w
n

er
s,

 r
ec

o
g

n
is

ed
 

d
ir

ec
tl

y 
in

 e
q

u
it

y
C

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s 
b

y 
an

d
 

d
is

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s 
to

 
o

w
n

e
rs

D
iv

id
en

d
s 

p
ai

d
/

p
ay

ab
le

18
–

–
–

–
–

–
(4

7,
6

4
6)

(4
7,

6
4

6)
(1

,2
24

)
(4

8,
87

0)
Is

su
e 

o
f s

ha
re

s 
fo

r 
ca

sh
 

un
d

er
 E

m
p

lo
ye

es
’ 

Sh
ar

e 
O

p
ti

o
n 

Sc
h

em
es

45
6

–
–

–
–

–
–

45
6

–
45

6
O

w
n 

sh
ar

es
 a

cq
ui

re
d

–
(4

7,
02

3)
–

–
–

–
–

(4
7,

02
3)

–
(4

7,
02

3)
V

al
u

e 
o

f e
m

p
lo

ye
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 r
ec

ei
ve

d
 fo

r 
is

su
e 

o
f s

ha
re

 o
p

ti
o

n
s

–
–

–
–

–
2,

81
0

–
2,

81
0

–
2,

81
0

Li
q

ui
d

at
io

n 
o

f 
su

b
si

d
ia

ry
–

–
(1

26
)

45
9

–
–

–
33

3
–

33
3

Tr
an

sf
er

 to
 c

ap
it

al
 

re
se

rv
e

–
–

2,
75

3
–

–
–

(2
,7

53
)

–
–

–
To

ta
l t

ra
n

sa
ct

io
n

s 
w

it
h

 o
w

n
e

rs
45

6
(4

7,
02

3)
2,

62
7

45
9

–
2,

81
0

(5
0,

39
9)

(9
1,

07
0)

(1
,2

24
)

(9
2,

29
4)

A
t 3

1 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
01

2
60

5,
19

6
(5

1,
4

8
4)

9,
09

4
(3

0,
4

8
0)

65
6

22
,4

57
3

05
,1

54
86

0,
59

3
16

,4
36

87
7,

02
9

Th
e 

ac
co

m
p

an
yi

n
g

 n
o

te
s 

fo
rm

 a
n 

in
te

g
ra

l p
ar

t o
f t

h
es

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
.



44

ANNUAL REPORT 2012
HYFLUX LTD

44

ANNUAL REPORT 2012
HYFLUX LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2012
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2012
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2012

Note 2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax 76,998 62,043
Adjustments for:
Allowance for inventory obsolescence 14 644 113
Amortisation of transaction costs related to borrowings 636 –
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 29,392 36,637
Employees’ share option expense 2,810 1,038
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments 895 594
Finance costs 28,460 22,597
Financial receivables written off – 3,056
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (5,223) (11,899)
Impairment of trade and other receivables 520 2,889
Intangible assets written off 35 25
Interest income (3,312) (3,041)
Loss/(gain) on liquidation of subsidiaries 603 (296)
Share of profit of associates, net of income tax (4,253) (1,226)

128,205 112,530
Change in inventories (9,764) 1,576
Change in gross amounts due for contract work 58,187 75,747
Change in trade and other receivables 22,494 (49,861)
Change in trade and other payables 71,776 25,595
Cash from operating activities before service concession arrangement projects 270,898 165,587
Change in financial receivables from service concession arrangements (294,102) (194,308)
Change in intangible assets arising from service concession arrangements (209,274) (20,052)
Cash used in operating activities after service concession arrangement projects (232,478) (48,773)
Income tax paid (11,398) (7,373)
Net cash used in operating activities (243,876) (56,146)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2012

Note 2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of intangible assets (5,901) (5,094)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (39,878) (53,366)
Additional investment in an associate – (33,079)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary – 50
Change in amounts due from related parties (non-trade) – (427)
Dividends received from associates 1,770 1,470
Interest received 1,757 2,657
Net cash outflow from liquidation of subsidiaries – (178)
Proceeds from sale of other investments – 2,429
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 7,835 26,280
Net cash used in investing activities (34,417) (59,258)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid (47,646) (47,908)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits pledged (9,589) 204
Interest paid (36,191) (17,702)
Net proceeds from CPS issue – 392,569
Proceeds from borrowings 653,842 605,085
Proceeds from exercise of share options 456 4,697
Purchases of treasury shares (47,023) (3,169)
Repayment of borrowings (371,619) (399,125)
Net cash from financing activities 142,230 534,651

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (136,063) 419,247
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 641,415 222,082
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (15,165) 86
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 15 490,187 641,415

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2013.

1	 Domicile and activities

	 Hyflux Ltd (the Company) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore.  The address of the Company’s registered office is 
Hyflux Innovation Centre, 80 Bendemeer Road, Singapore 339949.

	 The financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2012 comprise the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group and individually as Group entities) and the Group’s interests in associates 
and joint ventures.

	 The principal activities of the Company are those relating to investment holding. 

	 The principal activities of the subsidiaries comprise the following:

	 Water

-	 Seawater desalination, raw water purification, wastewater cleaning, water recycling, water reclamation and ultra pure 
water production for municipal and industrial clients as well as home consumer filtration and purification products; 
and

-	 Design, building and sale of water treatment plants, seawater desalination plants, wastewater treatment plants and 
water recycling plants under service concession arrangements.

	R enewable Resources Management

-	 Development of membrane applications in resource recovery, waste recycling and energy reclamation, including 
applications such as used oil recovery and recycling;

-	 Development and commercialisation of specialty materials, such as L-lactic acid from natural renewable resources; 
and

-	 Separation, concentration and purification treatments for manufacturing process streams.
	
	 Energy

	 Design, building and operation of power plants and trading in the electricity markets.

2	 Basis of preparation

2.1	 Statement of compliance

	 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

2.2	 Basis of measurement

	 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivative financial instruments which 
are measured at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

2.3	 Functional and presentation currency

	 These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.  Other significant 
entities within the Group have Chinese Renminbi, US dollars and Algerian Dinar as their functional currency.  All financial 
information presented in Singapore dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

2.4	U se of estimates and judgements

	 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

	 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

	 Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements is included in note 5 on capitalisation of development costs.

	 Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment 
within the next financial year are included in the following notes:

Note 4    	 –	 residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment;
Note 5    	 –	 useful lives and recoverability of intangible assets; 
Notes 4 and 5	 –	 key assumptions used in discounted cash flow projections;
Note 20  	 –	 recoverability of trade and other receivables; and
Note 31  	 –	 contingencies. 

2.5	 Changes in accounting policies

	 The Group has adopted all the new or revised FRSs that became mandatory from 1 January 2012. The adoption of these new 
FRSs has no significant impact to the Group.

3	 Significant accounting policies

	 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements, 
and have been applied consistently by Group entities, except as explained in note 2.5 which addresses changes in accounting 
policies.

3.1	 Basis of consolidation

	 Business combinations

	 Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group.  Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities.  In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable.

	 The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships.  Such 
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

	 Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.  If the contingent consideration is 
classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity.  Otherwise, subsequent changes to 
the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

	 When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s employees 
(acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards 
is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination.  This determination is based on the 
market-based value of the replacement awards compared with the market-based value of the acquiree’s awards and the 
extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or future service.

	 Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, at the acquisition date.  The 
measurement basis taken is elected on a transaction-by-transaction basis. All other non-controlling interests are measured 
at acquisition-date fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another standard.

	 Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs 
in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

	 Acquisition of non-controlling interests

	 Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and 
therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result.  Adjustments to non-controlling interests arising from transactions that do 
not involve the loss of control are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.

	 Subsidiaries

	 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

	 The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the 
Group.  Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even 
if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

	 Loss of control

	 Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and 
the other components of equity related to the subsidiary.  Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised 
in profit or loss.  If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the 
date that control is lost.  Subsequently, it is accounted for as a jointly-controlled entity, an equity-accounted investee or as 
an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

	 Joint ventures

	 Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement 
and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions.  Joint ventures are accounted for using 
proportionate consolidation.  The financial statements of joint ventures are proportionately consolidated from the date 
that joint control commences until the date that joint control ceases.  The accounting policies of joint ventures have been 
changed where necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

	 Associates

	 Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating 
policies of these entities.  Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of voting 
power of another entity. 

	 Associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognised initially at cost.  The cost of investments 
includes transaction costs.  The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of associates, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the 
date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases.

	 When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying amount of that interest, including any 
long-term investments, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the 
Group has an obligation to fund the associate’s operations or has made payments on behalf of the associate.

	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation

	 Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

	 Unrealised gains arising from transactions with joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the 
joint ventures.  Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains except that losses are recognised 
immediately when they represent a reduction in the net realisable value of assets or an impairment loss.  Balances with joint 
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures.

	 Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the associates.  Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that 
there is no evidence of impairment. 

	 Accounting for subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the separate financial statements

	 Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are stated in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses.

3.2	 Foreign currency

	 Foreign currency transactions

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the 
reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.  The foreign currency gain or loss 
on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted 
for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange 
rate at the end of the year.  

	 Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to 
the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items in a foreign 
currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences which are 
recognised in other comprehensive income arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity instruments (except 
on impairment in which case foreign currency differences that have been recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss); and qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent the hedge is effective.
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	 Foreign operations

	 The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, excluding goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are 
translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the end of the reporting date.  The income and expenses of foreign 
operations are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  Goodwill and fair value 
adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities 
of the foreign operation and translated at the exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.  For acquisitions prior to 1 
January 2005, the exchange rates at the date of acquisition were used.

	 Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency 
translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity.  However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, 
then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests.  When a 
foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the 
translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  
When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, 
the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests.  When the Group disposes 
of only part of its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a foreign operation while retaining significant 
influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

	 When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely to 
occur in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item that are considered to 
form part of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented as 
equity in the translation reserve.

3.3	 Financial instruments

	 Non-derivative financial assets

	 The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated.  All other financial 
assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the 
date the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

	 The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers 
the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.  Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or 
retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

	 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 
when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

	 The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: loans and receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets.

	 Loans and receivables

	 Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  Such 
assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, 
loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

	 Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, including service concession 
receivables, and gross amounts due from contract work.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits.

	 For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, pledged deposits are excluded whilst bank overdrafts that are repayable in 
demand and that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included in cash and cash equivalents.

	 Service concession arrangements

	 The Group recognises a financial asset arising from a service concession arrangement when it has an unconditional 
contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor for the construction or 
upgrade services provided.  Such financial assets are measured at fair value upon initial recognition.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the financial assets are measured at amortised cost.

	 If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by a financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, then each 
component of the consideration is accounted for separately and is recognised initially at the fair value of the consideration 
(see also note 3.5).

	 Available-for-sale financial assets

	 Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not 
classified in any of the above categories of financial assets.  Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair 
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and 
changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale debt instruments, 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity.  When an investment is 
derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

	 Non-derivative financial liabilities

	 The Group initially recognised debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. 
Financial liabilities for contingent consideration payable in a business combination are recognised at the acquisition date. 
All other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the 
trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

	 The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

	 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 
when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

	 The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities 
are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, these 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

	 Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.
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	 Intra-group financial guarantees

	 Financial guarantees are financial instruments issued by the Group that require the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for the loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to meet payment when due in accordance with 
the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

	 Financial guarantees are recognised initially at fair value and are classified as financial liabilities.  Subsequent to initial 
measurement, the financial guarantees are stated at the higher of the initial fair value less cumulative amortisation and 
the amount that would be recognised if they were accounted for as contingent liabilities.  When financial guarantees are 
terminated before their original expiry date, the carrying amount of the financial guarantees is transferred to profit or loss.

	 Share capital

	 Ordinary shares

	 Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share 
options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

	 Preference share capital

	 Preference share capital is classified as equity as it is non-redeemable, or redeemable only at the Company’s option, and 
any dividends are discretionary.  Dividends thereon are recognised as distributions within equity upon approval by the 
Board of Directors.

	 Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)

	 When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly 
attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity.  Repurchased shares are classified 
as treasury shares and are presented in the reserve for own share account.  When treasury shares are sold or reissued 
subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the 
transaction is transferred to/from retained earnings.

	 Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting

	 The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk exposures.  Embedded derivatives 
are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and risks of the host 
contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded 
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined instrument is not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss.

	 On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instruments, the Group formally documents the relationship between 
the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the 
hedge transaction and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the 
hedging relationship.  The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an 
ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instruments are expected to be “highly effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair 
value or cash flows of the respective hedged items attributable to the hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each 
hedge are within a range of 80% - 125%.  For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly 
probable to occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect reported profit or 
loss.
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	 Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  
Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as described 
below.

	 Cash flow hedges

	 When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit 
or loss, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income 
and presented in the hedging reserve in equity.  Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	 When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount accumulated in equity is included in the carrying amount of the 
asset when the asset is recognised.  In other cases, the amount accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss in the 
same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss.  If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued 
prospectively.  If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in equity is reclassified to profit 
or loss.

	 Separable embedded derivatives

	 Changes in the fair value of separated embedded derivatives are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	 Other non-trading derivatives

	 When a derivative financial instrument is not designated in a hedge relationship that qualifies for hedge accounting, all 
changes in its fair value are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.4	P roperty, plant and equipment

	 Recognition and measurement

	 Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

	 Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working 
condition for their intended use, when the Group has an obligation to move the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the 
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and capitalised borrowing 
costs.

	 Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases 
of property, plant and equipment.  Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 
capitalised as part of that equipment.

	 When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.

	 The gain and loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and is recognised net within other expenses in profit 
or loss. 
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	 Subsequent costs

	 The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group, and its cost 
can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised.  The costs of the day-to-day 
servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

	 Depreciation

	 Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset, less its residual value.  Significant components of individual assets are 
assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated 
separately.

	 Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an 
item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset.  Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful 
lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.  Construction-in-
progress is not depreciated.

	 Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready for use, or in 
respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready to use.

	 The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

	 Plant and machinery	 -	 4 to 10 years
	 Motor vehicles	 -	 4 to 5 years
	 Computers	 -	 1 to 5 years
	 Office equipment	 -	 4 to 5 years
	 Leasehold properties and improvements	 -	 4 to 5 years or over the lease period ranging from 5 to 36 years
	 Furniture and fittings	 -	 4 to 5 years

	 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if 
appropriate. 

3.5	 Intangible assets

	 Goodwill

	 Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. The Group measures goodwill at 
the acquisition date as:

•	 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
•	 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
•	 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree, 
	 over the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

	 When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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	 Subsequent measurement

	 Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  In respect of equity-accounted investees, the carrying 
amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and an impairment loss on such an investment is 
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the equity-accounted investee.

	 Research and development

	 Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and 
understanding, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

	 Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes.  
Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is 
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient 
resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset.  The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, 
direct labour, overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use, and capitalised 
borrowing costs.  Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

	 Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

	 Service concession arrangements

	 The Group recognises an intangible asset arising from a service concession arrangement when it has a right to charge 
for usage of the concession infrastructure.  An intangible asset received as consideration for providing construction or 
upgrade services in a service concession arrangement is measured at fair value upon initial recognition.  Subsequent to 
initial recognition the intangible asset is measured at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

	 Other intangible assets

	 Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

	 Subsequent expenditure

	 Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset 
to which it relates.  All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred.
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	 Amortisation

	 Amortisation is calculated based on the cost of the asset, less its residual value.

	 Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, 
other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern 
of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.  The estimated useful lives for the current and 
comparative years are as follows:

	 Intellectual property rights	 -	 10 years
	 Capitalised development costs	 -	 8 years
	 Licensing fees	 -	 10 to 20 years
	 Service concession arrangements	 -	 10 to 25 years

	 Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if 
appropriate.

	 The estimated useful life of an intangible asset in a service concession arrangement is the period from when the Group is 
able to charge for the use of the infrastructure to the end of the concession period.

3.6	 Leased assets

	 Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.  
Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the 
accounting policy applicable to that asset.

	 Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position. 

3.7	 Inventories

	 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  The cost of inventories is based on the weighted 
average cost principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and 
other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.  In the case of manufactured inventories and 
work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.  Cost 
may also include transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of 
inventories.

	 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion 
and selling expenses.

3.8	 Gross amounts due for contract work

	 Gross amounts due for contract work represent the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected from customers for 
contract work performed to date.  It is measured at cost plus profit recognised to date less progress billings and recognised 
losses.  Cost includes all expenditure related directly to specific projects and an allocation of fixed and variable overheads 
incurred in the Group’s contract activities based on normal operating capacity.

	 Gross amounts due for contract work are presented as part of assets in the statement of financial position for all contracts 
in which costs incurred plus recognised profits exceed progress billings.  If progress billings exceed costs incurred plus 
recognised profits, the difference is presented as part of trade and other payables in the statement of financial position.
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3.9	 Impairment

	 Non-derivative financial assets

	 A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at the end of each reporting period to determine 
whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss 
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

	 Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an 
amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, and indications that a debtor will enter 
bankruptcy.

	 Loans and receivables

	 The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset and collective level.  All 
individually significant loans and receivables are assessed for specific impairment.  All individually significant receivables 
found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet 
identified.  Loans and receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping 
together loans and receivables with similar risk characteristics.

	 In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of recoveries and 
the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions 
are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

	 An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between 
its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset’s original effective 
interest rate.  Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables.  
Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised.  When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss 
to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

	 Available-for-sale financial assets

	 Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in 
the fair value reserve in equity to profit or loss.  The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the 
difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss.  Changes in cumulative impairment provisions attributable to time 
value are reflected as a component of interest income.  If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-
sale debt security increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised, then the impairment loss is reversed.  The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.  However, any 
subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

	 Non-financial assets

	 The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed 
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not 
yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.  An impairment loss is recognised if 
the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  
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	 The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.  For the purpose of 
impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGU.  Subject 
to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been 
allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which 
goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes.  Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups 
of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

	 The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more than one CGU.  Corporate 
assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of the 
CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.

	 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying amounts 
of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

	 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.  In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in 
prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

	 Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate is not recognised separately, and therefore 
is not tested for impairment separately.  Instead, the entire amount of the investment in an associate is tested for impairment 
as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate may be impaired.

3.10	 Non-current assets held for sale

	 Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered primarily through 
sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale.  Immediately before classification as held for sale, the 
assets, or components of a disposal group, are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.  Thereafter, 
generally the assets, or disposal group, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell.  Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on 
a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets, 
and investment property, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.  Impairment 
losses on initial classification as held for sale, and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement, are recognised in profit or 
loss.  Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

	 Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment once classified as held for sale are not amortised or depreciated.  In 
addition, equity accounting of associates ceases once classified as held for sale.

3.11	 Employee benefits

	 Defined contribution plans

	 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.  Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which 
related services are rendered by employees.
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	 Short-term employee benefits

	 Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is 
provided.  A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans 
if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 
employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

	 Share-based payment transactions

	 The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with 
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards.  The 
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market 
performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the 
number of awards that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.  For share-
based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to 
reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

	 The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share appreciation rights, which are settled in cash, is 
recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period that the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to payment.  The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date.  Any changes 
in the fair value of the liability are recognised as personnel expense in profit or loss.

	 Share-based payment arrangements in which the Group receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity 
instruments are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, regardless of how the equity instruments 
are obtained by the Group.

3.12	P rovisions

	 A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

3.13	R evenue

	 Construction revenue - Construction contracts and sale of plants under service concession arrangements

	 Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims and incentive 
payments, to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and can be measured reliably.  As soon as the 
outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised in profit or loss in proportion 
to the stage of completion of the contract.  Contract expenses are recognised as incurred unless they create an asset related 
to future contract activity.

	 The stage of completion is assessed by reference to the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to 
date bear to the estimated total contract costs.  When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, 
contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable.  An expected 
loss on a contract is recognised immediately in profit or loss.  Net revenue from the sale of plants under service concession 
arrangements previously not recognised as construction revenue under the service concession arrangements is recognised 
when significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is 
probable, the associated costs can be estimated reliably, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
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	 Revenue relating to construction or upgrade services under a service concession arrangement is recognised based on 
the stage of completion of the work performed, consistent with the Group’s accounting policy on recognising revenue 
on construction contract (see above).  Operation or service revenue is recognised in the period in which the services 
are provided by the Group.  When the Group provides more than one service in a service concession arrangement, the 
consideration received is allocated by reference to the relative fair values of the services delivered.

	 Operating and maintenance income

	 Revenue from the provision of operating and maintenance services is recognised when the services are rendered.

	 Sale of goods

	 Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates.  Revenue is recognised when significant risks and rewards 
of ownership have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and 
possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and 
the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.  If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be 
measured reliably, the discount is recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised.

	 Transfers of risks and rewards occur upon delivery to customers. 

	 Finance income

	 Finance income represents the interest income on the financial receivable arising from a service concession arrangement, 
and is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

	 Finance lease income

	 Finance lease income is recognised on accrual basis, taking into account the effective yield of the asset.

	 Others

	 Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  
Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease.

	 Interest income from funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets) is recognised as it accrues as other income 
in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

3.14	 Government grants

	 The government grants are deducted against the carrying amounts of the assets when there is reasonable assurance that 
government grants will be received to compensate the Group for the cost of an asset and the Group will comply with the 
conditions associated with the grant.

3.15	 Lease payments

	 Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  
Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

	 Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of 
the outstanding liability.  The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
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	 Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease 
when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

	 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

	 At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease.  A specific asset 
is the subject of a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of that specified asset.  An arrangement 
conveys the right to use the asset if the arrangement conveys to the Group the right to control the use of the underlying 
asset.

3.16	 Finance costs

	 Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings that are recognised in profit or loss.  Borrowing costs that are not 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using 
the effective interest method.

3.17	 Tax

	 Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

	 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

	 Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  Deferred tax is not recognised for:

•	 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

•	 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that the 
Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future; and

•	 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

	 The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects, 
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  Deferred tax is 
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, 
and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

	 A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that 
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

	 In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions 
and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate 
for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience.  
This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events.  New 
information may become available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax 
liabilities, such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.
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3.18	 Earnings per share

	 The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares.  Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held.  Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own 
shares held for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees 
and directors.  Both basic and diluted EPS of the Group are adjusted for the effect of any provision for preference shares 
dividends.

3.19	 Segment reporting

	 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.  All 
operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s CEO (the chief operating decision maker) to 
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial 
information is available.

	 Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that 
can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company’s 
headquarters), head office expenses, and tax assets and liabilities.

	 Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets other than goodwill.

3.20	 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

	 A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 
1 January 2012, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those new standards, amendments to 
standards and interpretations that are not expected to have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Group and 
the Company in future financial periods, and which the Group does not plan to early adopt except as set out below:

	 FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements, 
	 FRS 111 Joint Arrangements, 
	 FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities,
	 Revised FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements, and 
	 Revised FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

	 The Group will early adopt these FRSs from the financial period beginning 1 January 2013.  These FRS’s mandatory effective 
date would have been from 1 January 2014 onwards.

	 FRS 110 changes the definition of control such that an investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power with the 
investee. FRS 110 introduces a single control model with a series of indicators to assess control. FRS 110 also adds additional 
context, explanation and application guidance based on the principle of control.

	 The Group has re-evaluated its involvement with investees under the new control model. Based on its assessment, there are 
no changes to the existing classification of its investments in the various investees.
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	 FRS 111 establishes the principles for classification and accounting of joint arrangements. The adoption of this standard 
would require the Group to re-assess and classify its joint arrangements as either joint operations or joint ventures based 
on its rights and obligations arising from the joint arrangements. Under this standard, interests in joint ventures will be 
accounted for using the equity method whilst interests in joint operations will be accounted for using the applicable FRSs 
relating to the underlying assets, liabilities, revenue and expense items arising from the joint operations.

	 The Group has re-evaluated the rights and obligations of the parties to respective existing joint arrangements and has 
determined that the parties in the respective joint arrangements have rights to the net assets of the arrangements. 
Accordingly, all the existing joint arrangements will be classified as joint ventures under FRS 111 and will be accounted for 
using the equity method.

	 The Group currently accounts for its investments in joint arrangements using proportionate consolidation method. Arising 
from the application of FRS 111, all the existing joint arrangements will be classified as joint venture and will be accounted 
for using the equity method.

	 These changes will be applied retrospectively and prior periods in the Group’s 2013 financial statements will be restated.  
The effect of the application of FRS 111 is decreases in total revenue of $31.7 million for 2012; and total assets and total 
liabilities as at 31 December 2012 of $200.1 million respectively. There will be no change to the Group’s net assets as at 31 
December 2012 and net profits for 2012.

	 FRS 112 sets out the disclosures required to be made in respect of all forms of an entity’s interests in other entities, including 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. The adoption of this standard would 
result in more extensive disclosures being made in the Group’s financial statements in respect of its interests in other 
entities; as FRS 112 is primarily a disclosure standard, there will be no financial impact on the results and financial position 
of the Group and the Company upon early adoption of this standard by the Group in 2013. The Group is currently collating 
the information of the additional disclosures required.
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4	P roperty, plant and equipment

Note

Plant 
and

 machinery
Motor

vehicles Computers
Office

equipment

Leasehold
properties 

and
improvements

Furniture 
and 

fittings
Construction-

in-progress Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Cost
At 1 January 2011 40,350 2,883 11,567 2,558 73,376 2,214 67,412 200,360
Additions 4,679 197 735 95 1,712 356 45,592 53,366
Transfers 10,202 (10) 715 45 4,767 (53) (15,666) –
Transfer from/(to) 
intangible assets 5 7,057 – – – – – (89) 6,968

Disposals (14,399) (434) (157) (212) (4,794) (7) (323) (20,326)
Effect of movements 
in exchange rates 86 37 (155) 20 3,017 107 2,438 5,550

At 31 December 2011 
	 and 1 January 2012 47,975 2,673 12,705 2,506 78,078 2,617 99,364 245,918
Additions 2,051 191 939 1,167 20,981 2,492 18,279 46,100
Transfers 1,177 – 622 367 54,261 110 (56,537) –
Disposals (1,386) (292) (588) (556) (427) (232) (2,447) (5,928)
Effect of movements 
in exchange rates (1,405) (119) (129) (60) (2,806) (88) (2,709) (7,316)

At  31 December 2012 48,412 2,453 13,549 3,424 150,087 4,899 55,950 278,774
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Note

Plant 
and

machinery
Motor

vehicles Computers
Office

equipment

Leasehold
properties

and 
improvements

Furniture 
and

fittings
Construction-

in-progress Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment losses

At 1 January 2011 17,201 1,557 7,614 1,695 10,402 1,109 4,956 44,534
Depreciation for the 

year 5,453 466 2,354 245 3,505 363 – 12,386
Disposals (4,046) (381) (148) (177) (749) (107) – (5,608)
Impairment loss – – – – – – 3,717 3,717
Transfer – (4) – (4) – 8 – –
Transfer from 

intangible assets 5 1,157 – – – – – – 1,157
Effect of movements 

in exchange rates 5 23 (92) 10 1,200 15 – 1,161
At 31 December 2011 

and 1 January 2012 19,770 1,661 9,728 1,769 14,358 1,388 8,673 57,347
Depreciation for the 

year 5,174 380 1,909 347 5,270 571 – 13,651
Disposals (1,336) (240) (568) (542) (408) (217) – (3,311)
Impairment loss – – – – – – 5,321 5,321
Effect of movements 

in exchange rates (520) (82) (89) (38) (432) (144) – (1,305)
At 31 December 2012 23,088 1,719 10,980 1,536 18,788 1,598 13,994 71,703

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2011 23,149 1,326 3,953 863 62,974 1,105 62,456 155,826
At 31 December 2011 

and 1 January 2012 28,205 1,012 2,977 737 63,720 1,229 90,691 188,571
At 31 December 2012 25,324 734 2,569 1,888 131,299 3,301 41,956 207,071
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Computers
Furniture

and fittings Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Company

Cost
At 1 January 2011, 31 December 2011, 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 1,018 11 1,029

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2011, 31 December 2011, 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 1,018 11 1,029

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2011, 31 December 2011, 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 – – –

	 Estimation of residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment

	 The Group reviews the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting period in order to 
determine the amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any reporting period.  The useful lives are based on 
the Group’s historical experience with similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological changes.  Changes 
in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual 
values of these assets.  Therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

	 Impairment loss

	 In 2012, due to the unfavourable market conditions, the Group has deferred the production and expected launch date 
of a new product in the industrial segment, which was originally expected to be available for sale in 2013. The Group has 
assessed the recoverable amount of the related production plant.

	 The recoverable amount was estimated based on its value in use, assuming that the production line would go live in 2015 
using a pre-tax discount rate of 13% (2011: 11%).  Based on the assessment, the Group recognised an impairment loss of 
$5,321,000 (2011: $3,717,000).  The production plant is included in the People’s Republic of China Industrial (PRC) CGU.

	 The calculation of the value in use was based on the cash flows that were projected from financial budgets approved by 
management covering a five-year period.  The key assumptions made are regarding the commencement period of the 
production plant, revenue and costs.

	 The anticipated annual revenue growth included in the cash flow projections was 6% (2011: 5%) for the years 2015 to 2017 
(2011: 2013 to 2016).  From 2018 (2011: 2017) onwards, management has assumed that the revenue would remain constant.  
The costs are assumed to increase with the increase in revenue growth adjusted for the trend of the raw material prices 
based upon the published market rates of the futures.
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	 Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

	 Following the impairment in the PRC CGU, the recoverable amount is equal to the carrying amount.  Therefore, any adverse 
movement in a key assumption would lead to further impairment.

	 Property, plant and equipment under construction

	 In 2011, the Group commenced the construction of its new headquarters and research center.  In 2012, total capitalised 
construction costs of the new premises amounting to $49,836,000 was transferred to leasehold properties and improvements 
upon completion of the construction.

	 Included in the carrying value of the new premises was capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of the land and 
the construction of the new premises amounting to $1,085,000 (2011: $652,000), with a capitalisation rate of 2.41% (2011: 
2.09%).

5	 Intangible assets

Note Goodwill

Intellectual
property

rights 
Development

costs
Licensing

fees Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Cost
At 1 January 2011 22,408 4,860 52,643 8,399 88,310
Additions – 40 – – 40
Disposal of subsidiaries to a joint venture 1,124 – – – 1,124
Additions – internally developed – – 3,930 – 3,930
Transfer to property, plant and equipment 4 – – (6,968) – (6,968)
Disposals – – (147) – (147)
Effect of movements in exchange rates – 2 (1) (18) (17)
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 23,532 4,902 49,457 8,381 86,272
Additions – 71 – – 71
Additions – internally developed – – 5,101 – 5,101
Liquidation of subsidiary (1,146) – – – (1,146)
Disposals – (295) (3,461) (3,898) (7,654)
Effect of movements in exchange rates – (19) (80) (223) (322)
At 31 December 2012 22,386 4,659 51,017 4,260 82,322
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Note Goodwill

Intellectual
property

rights 
Development

costs
Licensing

fees Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Accumulated amortisation and 
	 impairment losses
At 1 January 2011 3,927 999 16,836 4,473 26,235
Amortisation for the year – 59 5,130 324 5,513
Impairment loss 8,484 – 3,326 – 11,810
Disposals – – (89) – (89)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment 4 – – (1,157) – (1,157)
Effect of movements in exchange rates – 2 82 – 84
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 12,411 1,060 24,128 4,797 42,396
Amortisation for the year – 220 4,250 310 4,780
Impairment loss – – 1,451 – 1,451
Disposals – (260) (3,461) (3,898) (7,619)
Liquidation of subsidiary (954) – – – (954)
Effect of movements in exchange rates – 74 (175) (75) (176)
At 31 December 2012 11,457 1,094 26,193 1,134 39,878

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2011 18,481 3,861 35,807 3,926 62,075
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 11,121 3,842 25,329 3,584 43,876
At 31 December 2012 10,929 3,565 24,824 3,126 42,444

Intellectual
property

rights
Licensing

fees Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Company

Cost
At 1 January 2011 1,779 137 1,916
Disposals (1,779) (137) (1,916)
At 31 December 2011, 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 – – –

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2011 96 41 137
Amortisation for the year 18 14 32
Disposals (114) (55) (169)
At 31 December 2011, 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 – – –

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2011 1,683 96 1,779
At 31 December 2011, 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 – – –
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	 Capitalisation of development costs

	 Initial capitalisation of costs is based on management’s judgement that technological and economical feasibility is 
confirmed, usually when a product development project has reached a defined milestone according to an established 
project management model.  In 2011, development costs with carrying amount of $5,811,000 were reclassified to property, 
plant and equipment to better reflect the nature of the assets.

	 Recoverability of development costs

	 The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units are estimated based on their value in use.  When value in use 
calculations are undertaken, management estimates the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and 
chooses a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.  The recoverable amounts were 
estimated to be higher than the carrying amounts of the units, and no impairment was required, except for the amounts 
discussed below.

	 Impairment loss on development costs

	 Annually, the management will perform specific review on the development projects to identify projects that no longer 
meet the recognition criteria set forth in the FRS.

	 Accordingly, in 2012, taking into consideration the changes in the Group’s business plan, an impairment loss of $1,451,000 
(2011: $3,326,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

	 Estimation of useful lives of development costs

	 Significant judgement is required in estimating the useful lives of development projects, which are affected by various 
factors, such as technological developments.

	 Impairment testing for cash-generating units (CGUs) containing goodwill

	 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s operating divisions which represent the lowest 
level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, which is not higher than the 
Group’s operating segments as reported in note 26.  The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each unit are 
as follows:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Singapore – Others – 192
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia – Industrial 1,585 1,585
People’s Republic of China – Municipal 9,344 9,344

10,929 11,121
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	 In 2012, following a management review of the business portfolio, no impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss. 
Impairment losses for 2011 were as follows:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Industrial
-	 The Netherlands – 2,402
-	 Kingdom of Saudi Arabia – 4,217
-	 People’s Republic of China – 1,865

– 8,484

	 The Netherlands Industrial CGU

	 In 2011, management had fully written off the carrying amount of goodwill and recorded an impairment loss against the 
remaining goodwill amount from the Netherlands Industrial CGU of $2,402,000.  As at 31 December 2012, the carrying 
amount of the goodwill from the Netherlands Industrial CGU was $Nil.

	 Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Industrial CGU

	 The recoverable amount of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Industrial CGU was determined based upon the fair value less 
costs to sell method.  The fair value less costs to sell has been estimated based on indicative quotes obtained from potential 
buyers.  Based on this basis of estimated recoverable amount, the Group recorded an impairment loss of $4,217,000 to the 
goodwill arising from Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Industrial CGU in 2011.

	 People’s Republic of China Municipal CGU

	 The recoverable amounts of the People’s Republic of China Municipal CGU were based on the values in use.  Values in use 
were determined by discounting the future cash flows generated from the continuing use of the units.  Unless indicated 
otherwise, values in use in 2012 were determined in a similar manner as in 2011.  

	 Calculation of value in use is derived from the financial projections approved by management with key assumptions made 
relating to forecast period, revenue and costs, growth rates and discount rates.  Cash flows were projected over 20 to 30 
years in accordance with the duration of the concession agreements.

	 The anticipated annual revenue growth included in the cash flow projections was 5% (2011: 5%).  The forecast revenue and 
costs, and growth rates are based on past performance of operating plants, expectations of market development as well as 
industry reports.  

	 A pre-tax discount rate of 10% (2011: 10%) was applied in determining the recoverable amounts of the CGUs and reflect 
specific risks related to the relevant segments.

	 The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the industries and are 
based on both external sources and internal sources (historical data).
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6	 Intangible assets arising from service concession arrangements

$’000
Group

Cost
At 1 January 2011 129,934
Additions 22,769
Effect of movements in exchange rates 6,400
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 159,103
Additions 217,825
Effect of movements in exchange rates (8,504)
At 31 December 2012 368,424

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2011 440
Amortisation for the year 3,211
Effect of movements in exchange rates 515
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 4,166
Amortisation for the year 4,189
Effect of movements in exchange rates (297)
At 31 December 2012 8,058

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2011 129,494
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 154,937
At 31 December 2012 360,366

	 At 31 December 2012, the Group owns water plants in PRC, including water treatment plants (WTPs) and wastewater 
treatment plants (WWTPs), through the special project companies (SPCs) incorporated in PRC. The principal activities of 
the SPCs are development and operation of WTPs and WWTPs, as well as sales of treated and recycled water.  Each of 
these SPCs has entered into service concession arrangements with the respective local municipals (the grantor), via either 
Transfer-Operate-Transfer (TOT) or Build-Operate-Transfer (BOT) arrangements.

	 Under the TOT arrangements, the rights of use of the water plants were transferred to the Group and the Group is responsible 
for any upgrading services to bring the water plants into proper working conditions.  Under the BOT arrangements, the 
Group is responsible for the construction of the water plants.  Upon completion of the construction, the Group is responsible 
for operating the water plants and sale of the treated and recycled water to the industrial or domestic customers.  The 
concession periods range from 20 years to 30 years.

	 During the concession period, the Group received the right to charge the customers for the sale of water.  Additionally, some 
of the service concession arrangements provide the Group a guaranteed minimum annual payment for the initial years of 
the concession period, ranging from 3 years to 30 years.  These guaranteed minimum annual payments are recognised as 
financial receivables to the extent that the Group has contractual rights under the concession arrangements (see note 10).  
The financial receivables are measured on initial recognition at their fair value.

	 Intangible assets arising from service concession arrangements represent the right to operate the water plants and to sell 
the water to the customers. 

	 At the end of the concession period, the water plants will be transferred to the grantor.



74

ANNUAL REPORT 2012
HYFLUX LTD

74

ANNUAL REPORT 2012
HYFLUX LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

	 The service concession agreement does not contain a renewal option.  The standard rights of the grantor to terminate the 
agreement include poor performance by the Group and in the event of a material breach in the terms of the agreement.  
The standard rights of the Group to terminate the agreement include failure of the grantor to make payment under the 
agreement, a material breach in the terms of the agreement, and any changes in law that would render it impossible for the 
Group to fulfill its obligations under the agreement.

7	 Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity securities, at cost 164,011 156,011
Impairment losses (11,100) (11,100)

152,911 144,911
Loans to subsidiaries 24,509 24,509

177,420 169,420

	 Loans to subsidiaries are unsecured and interest-free, and settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable 
future.  As these balances are, in substance, part of the Company’s net investments in the subsidiaries, they are stated at cost 
less impairment losses, if any.

	 In 2012, the Company has assessed the recoverable amount of its investments in subsidiaries that have been loss-making 
since the previous financial years.  The recoverable amount was estimated based on value in use.  

	 When value in use calculations are undertaken, management estimates the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and chooses a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The 
recoverable amounts were estimated to be higher than the carrying amounts of the units, and no additional impairment 
was required in 2012. 
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	 Details of major subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary
Country of 

incorporation
Ownership  

interest
2012 2011

% %
Held by the Company

Hydrochem (S) Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100
Hyflux Membrane Manufacturing (S) Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
SinoSpring Utility Ltd British Virgin Islands 100 100
Spring China Utility Ltd British Virgin Islands 100 100
TuaSpring Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100
Hyflux Engineering Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100

Held through subsidiaries

Hydrochem Engineering (Shanghai) Co., Ltd People’s Republic of China (PRC) 100 100
Hyflux Filtech (Shanghai) Co., Ltd PRC 71 71
Hyflux Unitech (Shanghai) Co., Ltd PRC 71 71
Hyflux Hi-tech Product (Yangzhou) Co., Ltd PRC 100 100
Hyflux NewSpring Construction Engineering (Shanghai) 

Co., Ltd 
PRC 100 100

Hyflux Engineering (Shanghai) Co., Ltd PRC 100 100
Hyflux-TJSB Algeria SPA Algeria 51 51
Hyflux Engineering Algeria EURL Algeria 100 100
Sinolac (Huludao) Biotech Co., Ltd PRC 100 100

	 KPMG LLP, Singapore is the auditor of all significant Singapore-incorporated subsidiaries. The foreign-incorporated 
subsidiaries that are considered significant are Hyflux NewSpring Construction Engineering (Shanghai) Co., Ltd, and Hyflux 
Engineering Algeria EURL.  Their respective statutory auditors are Shanghai Hongyi CPA Co., Ltd, PRC and Guerza Rafik 
Expert Comptable G.R.E.C.
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8	 Investments in joint ventures

Company
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity securities, at cost 3,125 3,125

	 Details of major joint ventures are as follows:

Name of joint venture
Country of 

incorporation Ownership interest
2012 2011

% %

Held by the Company

Hyflux Marmon Development Pte. Ltd. Singapore 50 50

Held through subsidiaries

Galaxy NewSpring Pte. Ltd. Singapore 50 50
H.J. NewSpring Limited Hong Kong 50 50

Held through joint ventures

Tianjin Dagang NewSpring Co., Ltd People’s Republic of China (PRC) 50 50
Galaxy Newspring Capital Pte. Ltd. Singapore 50 50
Hyflux Water Trust Singapore 50 50
Galaxy Operation and Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd PRC 50 50
Hyflux NewSpring (Dezhou) Co., Ltd PRC 50 50
Hyflux NewSpring (LiaoYang GongChangLing) Co., Ltd. PRC 50 50
Hyflux NewSpring Sewage Disposal (Rudong) Co., Ltd PRC 50 50
Hyflux NewSpring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. PRC 50 50
Hyflux NewSpring Waste Water Treatment (Mingguang) 

Co., Ltd
PRC 50 50

Hyflux NewSpring (Yangzhou) Co., Ltd PRC 50 50
Hyflux NewSpring (Zunhua) Co., Ltd. PRC 50 50
Langfang Hyflux NewSpring Co., Ltd. PRC 50 50
Wuxi Hyflux NewSpring Sewage Disposal Co., Ltd PRC 50 50

	 KPMG LLP, Singapore is the auditor of the Singapore-incorporated joint ventures.  The foreign-incorporated joint venture 
that is considered significant is Tianjin Dagang NewSpring Co., Ltd and the statutory auditor is KPMG Huazhen, Shanghai, 
PRC.
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	 The summarised financial information of the joint ventures, which are adjusted for the percentage of ownership held by the 
Group, are as follows:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets 396,925 405,518
Current assets 68,030 53,603
Total assets 464,955 459,121

Non-current liabilities (143,539) (131,904)
Current liabilities (56,543) (48,678)
Total liabilities (200,082) (180,582)

Results
Revenue 31,731 38,218
Expenses (37,628) (39,264)
Loss before income tax (5,897) (1,046)

Contingent liabilities in respect of bank guarantees  for which the Group is liable (57,257) (62,652)

9	 Investments in associates

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Unquoted equity securities 104,092 108,887 14,109 13,704

	 Unquoted equity securities of the Group with a carrying amount of $81,686,000 (2011: $88,195,000) have been pledged as 
collateral for banking facilities granted to the associates.

	 Details of major associates are as follows:

Name of associate
Country of 

incorporation
Ownership

interest
2012 2011

% %
Held by the Company

SingSpring Trust Singapore 30 30
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Name of associate
Country of 

incorporation
Ownership

interest
2012 2011

% %
Held through subsidiaries

Ningxia Hypow Bio-Technology Co., Ltd People’s Republic of China 25 25
Tlemcen Desalination Investment Company SAS France 30 30
Tahlyat Myah Magtaa SPA Algeria 47 47

	 SingSpring Trust is audited by Ernst & Young Singapore and Tahlyat Myah Magtaa SPA is audited by Cabinet Benmahsour 
Med El Bachir.  An associated company is considered significant as defined under the SGX-ST's Listing Manual if the Group’s 
share of its net tangible assets represents 20% or more of the Group’s consolidated net tangible assets, or if the Group’s 
share of its pre-tax profits accounts for 20% or more of the Group’s consolidated pre-tax profits. None of the Group’s 
associates is considered significant in accordance with SGX-ST's Listing Manual.

	 The summarised financial information of the associates, which are adjusted for the percentage of ownership held by the 
Group, are as follows:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Assets and liabilities
Total assets 340,297 345,251
Total liabilities (241,217) (296,566)

Results
Revenue 29,544 27,227
Profit after income tax 4,253 1,226

10	 Financial receivables

Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000
Non-current
Financial receivables 704,811 418,320

Current
Financial receivables 12,548 4,874
Lease receivables – 63

12,548 4,937

Total 717,359 423,257
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	 The financial receivables represent the unconditional rights to receive cash or other financial asset from or at the direction 
of the grantors for the construction or upgrade services provided.  See note 6 for the background of the service concession 
arrangements.

	 At 31 December 2012, the Group has no receivables under finance lease. In 2011, the Group had receivables under finance 
leases as follows:

Minimum 
lease payment

receivables
Unearned finance 

income

Present value 
of minimum lease

payment receivables
2011 2011 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000
Group

Within one year 82 19 63

	 Under the terms of the lease arrangements, no contingent rents were recognised and there were no unguaranteed residual 
values accruing to the Group.

	 The weighted average effective interest rate of the lease receivables at 31 December 2011 was  5.5% per annum.

11	 Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Non-current
Trade receivables – 66 – –
Amounts due from:
-	 subsidiaries (non-trade) – – 760,736 445,312
-	 an associate (non-trade) 14,594 15,486 – –

14,594 15,552 760,736 445,312

Current
Trade receivables 99,375 90,691 – –
Prepayments 6,477 4,927 3,631 3,276
Deposits 2,425 2,512 – –
Advances to suppliers 28,768 19,826 – –
Staff advances 231 323 – –
Other receivables 9,822 12,801 12 –
Derivatives 21 546 – 514
Amounts due from:
-	 subsidiaries (trade) – – 17,073 17,548
-	 subsidiaries (non-trade) – – 464,295 701,871
-	 joint ventures (trade) 34,634 30,015 – –
-	 joint ventures (non-trade) 1,815 1,688 509 527
-	 associates (trade) 15,328 64,955 – –
-	 an associates (non-trade) 10,725 2,809 5,108 5,405

209,621 231,093 490,628 729,141

Total 224,215 246,645 1,251,364 1,174,453
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	 At 31 December 2012, trade receivables for the Group included a retention sum of $10,001,000 (2011: $9,353,000) relating 
to construction contracts in progress.

	 Included in current trade receivables of the Group are note receivables of $5,187,000 (2011: $6,356,000) relating to bank 
promissory notes for payment within the next six months.

	 Outstanding balances with subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are unsecured.  There is no allowance for doubtful 
debts arising from the outstanding balances.

	 Except for balances amounting to $744,858,000 (2011: $428,462,000) that bear interest at rates of 5% to 6.5% (2011: 5% to 
6.5%), remaining non-current non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries are interest-free, have no fixed terms of repayment 
and are not expected to be repaid within the next 12 months.  As these amounts are in substance, a part of the entity’s net 
investment in the subsidiaries, they are stated at cost.

	 The non-current non-trade amount due from an associate bears interest at rate of 5.94% (2011: 5.94%) per annum and is 
repayable in 2014.

	 The current amounts due from subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are interest-free and are repayable on demand.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks, and impairment losses related to trade and other 
receivables, are as set out in note 20.
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12	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

	 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

	 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Tax losses 18,914 17,880 – –
Deductible temporary differences 18 18 – –

18,932 17,898 – –

	 The tax losses and deductible temporary differences are subject to agreement by the tax authorities and compliance with 
tax regulations in the respective countries in which the Company and certain subsidiaries operate.  Tax losses of $8,358,000 
(2011: $7,545,000) expire in 2013 to 2017 (2011: 2012 to 2016). Remaining tax losses and deductible temporary differences 
do not expire under current tax legislation.  Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because 
it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits therefrom.

	 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities
2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group

Property, plant and equipment – – 1,009 182
Intangible assets – – 4,056 4,445
Intangible assets arising from service concession arrangements (417) (417) 22,152 23,747
Tax loss carry-forwards (1,633) (2,412) – –
Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (2,050) (2,829) 27,217 28,374
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13	 Gross amounts due for contract work

Group
Note 2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Costs incurred and attributable profits 837,243 1,127,765
Progress billings (730,223) (964,410)

107,020 163,355

Comprising of:
Gross amounts due from contract work 119,059 176,910
Progress payments from customers 16 (12,039) (13,555)

107,020 163,355

14	 Inventories

Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Raw materials and consumables 19,267 11,798
Work in progress 8,541 11,010
Finished goods 4,648 1,387

32,456 24,195

	 During the year, the write-down of inventories to net realisable value amounted to $644,000 (2011: $113,000) for the Group.  
The write-down is included as part of other expenses in profit or loss.

15	 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
Note 2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Bank balances 304,280 198,789 170,741 13,782
Fixed deposits with financial institutions 236,952 463,569 5,475 82,625
Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of 
	 financial position 541,232 662,358 176,216 96,407
Deposits pledged (9,589) –
Bank overdrafts used for cash management purposes 17 (41,456) (20,943)
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of 
	 cash flows 490,187 641,415

	 Deposits pledged represent bank balances of certain subsidiaries and joint venture pledged as securities for performance 
guarantees and credit facilities, respectively.
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16	 Trade and other payables

Group Company
Note 2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables 261,378 183,335 – –
Progress payments from customers 13 12,039 13,555 – –
Derivatives 81 395 – 354
Accrued expenses 18,725 13,958 1,019 762
Other payables 25,131 15,412 8,219 8,403
Amounts due to:
-	 subsidiaries (trade) – – 36 41
-	 subsidiaries (non-trade) – – 25,539 126,007
-	 joint ventures (trade) 623 1,001 – –
-	 joint ventures (non-trade) 228 184 – –

318,205 227,840 34,813 135,567

	 Amounts due to subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables are described 
in note 20.

17	 Loans and borrowings

	 This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s and the Company’s interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost.  For more information about the Group’s and Company’s exposures to 
interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risks, see note 20.

Group Company
Note 2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans 89,178 78,096 – –
Unsecured bank loans 411,899 180,950 355,290 120,556
Unsecured notes 553,229 453,255 553,229 453,255

1,054,306 712,301 908,519 573,811

Current liabilities
Bank overdraft 15 41,456 20,943 – –
Secured bank loans 9,284 6,482 – –
Unsecured bank loans 13,695 2,258 10,000 –
Unsecured notes – 88,438 – 88,438

64,435 118,121 10,000 88,438

Total 1,118,741 830,422 918,519 662,249
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	 Secured bank loans of the Group at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 were secured by land and building of a 
subsidiary with carrying amount of $67,559,000 (2011: $41,787,000), a joint venture’s mortgages of its shares of various 
subsidiaries and deposits pledged of $2,502,000 (2011: $Nil).

	 Unsecured bank loans and overdraft of the Group totalling $514,272,000 (2011: $256,291,000) are guaranteed by the 
Company and a subsidiary of the Group.

	 Unsecured bank loans of the Company totalling $355,291,000 (2011: $120,556,000) are guaranteed by a subsidiary of the 
Group.

	 At the reporting date, the Group does not consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Group under the 
guarantees as described above.

	 In 2011, the Company increased the unsecured multi-currency debt established in 2008 from $300 million to $800 million, 
pursuant to which the Company may issue notes which bear currency, interest and maturity terms that vary with each series, 
as may be agreed between the Company and the dealers.  As at 31 December 2012, $555 million (2011: $544 million) of 
unsecured fixed rate notes were in issue.

	 Terms and debt repayment schedule

	 Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:

2012 2011

 Currency
Nominal 

interest rate 
Year 

of maturity
Face

value
Carrying

amount
Face 

value
Carrying

amount
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Unsecured bank loans SGD SIBOR + 1.95% 2017 100,000 99,465 – –
Unsecured bank loans SGD SOR + 1.0% 2014 30,000 30,000 – –
Unsecured bank loans USD LIBOR + 1.66% 2016 125,825 125,825 120,556 120,556
Unsecured bank loans SGD LIBOR + 1.66% 2016 25,000 25,000 - -
Unsecured bank loans SGD COF* + 2.25% 2013 50,000 50,000 – –
Unsecured bank loans SGD COF* + 1.75% 2013 10,000 10,000 – –
Unsecured bank loans RMB 6.6% - 7.05% 2023 57,725 57,293 63,281 62,652
Secured bank loans USD COF* + 2.5% 2012 - 2017 28,585 28,585 33,704 33,704
Secured bank loans USD LIBOR + 2.5% 2012 - 2014 70,507 69,877 51,963 50,874
Unsecured bank loans SGD COF* + 1.5% 2015 25,000 25,000 – –
Unsecured bank loans USD 1.41%-3.73% 2023 3,011 3,011 – –
Unsecured notes SGD 3.5% - 5.68% 2014 - 2019 555,000 553,229 543,500 541,693
Bank overdraft DZD 6% - 9% 2013 41,456 41,456 20,943 20,943
Total loans and 

borrowings 1,122,109 1,118,741 833,947 830,422
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2012 2011

 Currency
Nominal 

interest rate 
Year 

of maturity
Face 

value
Carrying

amount
Face 

value
Carrying

amount
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

Unsecured bank loans SGD SIBOR + 1.95% 2017 100,000 99,465 – –
Unsecured bank loans SGD SOR + 1.0% 2014 30,000 30,000 – –
Unsecured bank loans USD LIBOR + 1.66% 2016 125,825 125,825 120,556 120,556
Unsecured bank loans SGD LIBOR + 1.66% 2016 25,000 25,000 - -
Unsecured bank loans SGD COF* + 2.25% 2013 50,000 50,000 – –
Unsecured bank loans SGD COF* + 1.75% 2013 10,000 10,000 – –
Unsecured bank loans SGD COF* + 1.50% 2015 25,000 25,000 – –
Unsecured notes SGD 3.5% - 5.68% 2014 - 2019 555,000 553,229 543,500 541,693
Total loans and 

borrowings 920,825 918,519 664,056 662,249

COF*  :  Costs of funds, the rate per annum determined by the bank to be the aggregate of :
i. The rate at which the bank would be able to acquire funds in the Singapore interbank market (or from such 

sources as the bank may select for the purpose), and
ii. The rate determined by the bank to represent the bank’s costs of compliance with liquidity, reserve or 

similar requirements imposed by any relevant authority (if any).

18	 Capital and reserves

	 Share capital

Ordinary shares CPS*
2012 2011 2012 2011

No. of shares No. of shares
’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

Group and Company

On issue at 1 January 858,679 857,931 4,000 –
Issue of CPS – – – 4,000
Exercise of share options 479 3,459 – –
Purchase of treasury shares (33,935) (2,711) – –
On issue at 31 December 825,223 858,679 4,000 4,000

*	 6% Cumulative Non-convertible Non-voting Perpetual Class A Preference Shares

	 All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets, except that CPS shareholders which rank senior to the 
ordinary shareholders participate only to the extent of the face value of the CPS.

All issued shares are fully paid, with no par value.
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	 Ordinary shares

	 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled to one 
vote per share at meetings of the Company.  In respect of the Company’s shares that are held by the Group, the rights are 
suspended until these shares are issued.

	 Issuance of ordinary shares

	 479,000 (2011: 3,459,000) ordinary shares were issued as a result of the exercise of vested options arising from the 2001 
share option programme granted to key management staff.  Options were exercised at an average price of $0.953 (2011: 
$1.364) per option.  

	 All issued shares were fully paid.

	 CPS

Group and Company
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

At 1 January 392,569 –
Proceeds from issue of CPS – 400,000
Transaction costs – (7,431)
At 31 December 392,569 392,569

	 On 25 April 2011, the Company issued 4,000,000 CPS listed on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited.

	 The CPS do not carry the right to vote at general meeting except in certain limited circumstances as specified in the Offer 
Information Statement dated 13 April 2011 (the OIS) and rank senior to the ordinary shares with regard to the Company’s 
residual assets, to the extent of the face value of the CPS.  All issued shares are fully paid.  

	 The CPS carry a dividend rate of 6% per annum of their liquidation preference (being $100 per CPS), payable semi-annually 
when, as and if declared by the Board, in arrears on 25 April and 25 October of each year, subject to certain conditions 
specified in the OIS.

	 The Company has the right, but not the obligation, to redeem the CPS on or after 25 April 2018, at the liquidation preference 
for each CPS plus accrued but unpaid dividends up to (but excluding) the redemption date.  If the CPS are not redeemed by 
the Company on 25 April 2018, dividends will accrue on the CPS at the rate of 8% per annum of their liquidation preference 
on and from 25 April 2018.

	 The CPS are perpetual securities with no maturity date and are not redeemable at the option of the holders of the CPS.  
The Company may at its sole discretion, redeem the CPS for cash, in whole or in part (on a pro rata basis), under certain 
circumstances, subject to the terms and conditions of the OIS.
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	 Reserve for own shares

	 The reserve for the Company’s own shares comprises the cost of the Company’s shares held by the Group.  At 31 December 
2012, the Group held 37,146,000 (2011: 3,211,000) of the Company’s shares.

	 Capital reserve

	 The capital reserve comprises:

(a)	 Capital gain arising from the payment of the Group’s subscription to the share capital of a subsidiary by a non-
controlling interest.

(b)	 Statutory Reserve Fund (SRF)

	 In accordance with the Foreign Enterprise Law in the People’s Republic of China (PRC), the Group’s subsidiaries 
in the PRC are required to appropriate earnings to a SRF.  10% of the statutory profits after tax as determined in 
accordance with the applicable PRC accounting standards and regulations are allocated to the SRF annually until 
the cumulative total of the SRF reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capital.  Subject to approval from the 
relevant PRC authorities, the SRF may be used to offset any accumulated losses or increase the registered capital of 
the subsidiaries.  The SRF is not available for dividend distribution to shareholders.

(c)	 Difference between the consideration paid and net assets acquired in acquisition of non-controlling interest.

(d)	 Accumulated amortisation of transaction costs incurred in the issuance of redeemable preference shares.

	 Foreign currency translation reserve

	 The translation reserve comprises foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign operations.

	 Hedging reserve

	 The hedging reserve comprises:

(a)	 The effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments relating to 
hedged transactions that have not yet occurred; and

(b)	 The Group’s share of the hedging reserve of associates.

	 Employees’ share option reserve

	 The employees’ share option reserve represents the equity-settled share options granted to employees.  This reserve is 
made up of the cumulative value of services received from employees recorded over the vesting period commencing from 
the grant date of equity-settled share options.
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	 Dividends

	 The following dividends were declared and paid by the Group and the Company:

	 For the year ended 31 December

Group and Company
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Final tax-exempt dividend paid of 2.10 cents (2010: 3.50 cents) per share in respect of 
previous financial year 17,805 30,108

Interim tax-exempt dividend paid of 0.70 cent (2011: 0.67 cent) per share in respect of current 
financial year 5,775 5,767

$6 (2011: $3) per CPS 24,066 12,033
47,646 47,908

	 After the respective reporting dates, the following dividends were proposed by the directors.  As at the respective year end, 
the dividends were not provided for and there were no income tax consequences.

Group and Company
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Final proposed tax-exempt dividend of 2.50 cents (2011: 2.10 cents) per share 20,631 18,032

19	 Share-based payment

	 Description of the share-based payment arrangements

	 At 31 December 2012, the Group has the following share-based payment arrangements:

	 Share option scheme (equity-settled)

	 On 27 April 2011, the members of the Company have approved the implementation of new share option scheme (the Scheme) 
to replace the 2001 Scheme that expired on 26 September 2011.  The implementation of the Scheme and replacement of 
expired scheme do not affect the rights of holders of the options under the expired scheme.  The maximum entitlement 
of Olivia Lum Ooi Lin is 10% of the total number of shares which may be issued by the Company under the Scheme.  The 
aggregate number of scheme shares available to Olivia Lum Ooi Lin and her associates (as defined in SGX-ST's Listing 
Manual) shall not exceed 25% of the total number of scheme shares available under the Scheme.  It was in force since 27 
September 2011 and shall expire on 26 September 2021.

	 The Scheme is administered by the Remuneration Committee.

	 Once these options have vested, the options are exercisable by an employee during a contractual option term of 10 years 
from the date of grant of that option. 20% of the options granted are exercisable after the director or employee completed 
each year of service from the date of the grant.  All options are to be settled by physical delivery of shares.

	 The duration of the Scheme may be extended with the approval of the members of the Company at a general meeting of 
the Company and of any relevant authorities which may then be required.  The vesting of the options under the Schemes 
are conditional upon various factors including the directors and employees completing their years of service to the Group.
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	 Disclosure of share option scheme

	 The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

Weighted
average
exercise

price
Number

of options

Weighted
average
exercise

price
Number

of options
2012 2012 2011 2011

$ $

Outstanding at 1 January 1.658 41,713,681 1.656 35,640,369
Forfeited during the year 1.831 (3,072,329) 1.782 (4,517,572)
Exercised during the year 0.953 (478,875) 1.364 (3,437,116)
Granted during the year 1.469 7,305,000 1.631 14,028,000
Option granted but not accepted 1.469 (50,000) – –
Outstanding at 31 December 1.623 45,417,477 1.658 41,713,681

Exercisable at 31 December 1.565 22,028,677 1.564 19,588,481

	 The options outstanding at 31 December 2012 have an exercise price in the range of $0.3997 to $2.4187 (2011: $0.2749 to 
$2.4187) and a weighted average contractual life of 5.78 years (2011: 6.66 years). 

	 The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised in 2012 was $1.366 (2011: $1.990) per 
share.

	 Inputs for measurement of grant date fair values

	 The grant date fair value of the share-based payment plans was measured based on the Black-Scholes standard option 
valuation model.  Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility.  The inputs used in 
the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the share-based payment plans are the following:

	 Fair value of share options and assumptions

Date of grant of options 5 March 2012

Fair value at grant date $0.405
Share price at grant date $1.430
Exercise price $1.469
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 46%
Option life (expected weighted average life) 100 days
Expected dividends 2.77%
Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 0.46%
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20	 Financial instruments

	 Credit risk

	 Exposure to credit risk

	 The carrying amount of financial assets in the statements of financial position represents the Group's and the Company’s 
respective maximum credit exposure.  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Group Company
Note 2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial receivables 10 717,359 423,257 – –
Trade receivables 11 99,375 90,757 – –
Deposits 11 2,425 2,512 – –
Advances to suppliers 11 28,768 19,826 – –
Staff advances 11 231 323 – –
Other receivables 11 9,822 12,801 12 –
Amounts due from:
-	 subsidiaries (trade) 11 – – 17,073 17,548
-	 subsidiaries (non-trade) 11 – – 1,225,031 1,147,183
-	 joint ventures (trade) 11 34,634 30,015 – –
-	 joint ventures (non-trade) 11 1,815 1,688 509 527
-	 associates (trade) 11 15,328 64,955 – –
-	 associates (non-trade) 11 25,319 18,295 5,108 5,405
Cash and cash equivalents 15 541,232 662,358 176,216 96,407
Loans and receivables 1,476,308 1,326,787 1,423,949 1,267,070
Derivatives 11 21 546 – 514
Recognised financial assets 1,476,329 1,327,333 1,423,949 1,267,584

	 The Group’s revenue is earned from a wide range of customers whose credit quality have not changed significantly.

	 The maximum exposure to credit risk for loans and receivables at the reporting date by type of counterparty was:

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Municipal 1,364,204 1,150,088 – –
Industrial 84,222 138,227 – –
Subsidiaries – – 1,242,104 1,164,731
Joint ventures – – 509 527
Associates – – 5,108 5,405
Others 27,882 38,472 176,228 96,407

1,476,308 1,326,787 1,423,949 1,267,070
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	 The credit quality of trade and other receivables is assessed based upon the credit policy in place.  At the reporting date, 
the Group and the Company believe that the credit quality of trade and other receivables that were not past due or impaired 
is of acceptable risk.

	 The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables.

	 Impairment losses

	 The ageing of loans and receivables at the reporting date was:

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment 
2012 2012 2011 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group

Not past due 1,416,774 – 1,275,441 –
Past due 0 to 60 days 11,702 – 10,271 5
Past due 61 to 180 days 6,530 – 10,249 –
More than 180 days 46,872 5,570 35,753 4,922

1,481,878 5,570 1,331,714 4,927
Company

Not past due 1,423,949 – 1,267,070 –

	 The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of loans and receivables during the year was as follows:

Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

At 1 January 4,927 5,280
Impairment loss recognised 1,311 1,980
Impairment loss written off (55) (1,503)
Impairment loss written back (455) (903)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (158) 73
At 31 December 5,570 4,927

	 At 31 December 2012, an impairment loss of the Group of $1,311,000 (2011: $1,980,000) relates to several customers that 
have indicated that they are not expecting to be able to pay their outstanding balances, mainly due to financial difficulties.

	 The impairment losses recognised and written back during the year are included as part of other expenses in profit or loss.

	 The Group and the Company believe that the unimpaired amounts that are past due are still collectible, based on historic 
payment behaviour and analysis of the customers’ underlying credit ratings.

	 Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that, apart from the above, no impairment allowance is necessary in 
respect of the Group’s loans and receivables that are unimpaired at 31 December 2012 as these loans and receivables are 
mainly due from governing bodies or agencies of the People’s Republic of China, or customers that have a good payment 
record with the Group.  Management believes that no additional impairment allowance is necessary on the Company’s loans 
and receivables as at 31 December 2012.
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	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 The Group held cash and cash equivalents of $541,232,000 at 31 December 2012 (2011: $662,358,000), which represents 
its maximum credit exposure on these assets.  The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank and financial institution 
counterparties, which are rated A+ to AA-, based on rating agency Standard & Poor’s ratings.

	 Liquidity risk

	 The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the 
impact of netting agreements:

Cash flows

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Within
1 year

Between
1 and 

5 years
More than

5 years
Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2012
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank overdraft 41,456 (44,306) (44,306) – –
Variable interest rate loans 524,056 (580,897) (37,259) (498,094) (45,544)
Fixed interest rate notes 553,229 (667,200) (23,705) (359,865) (283,630)
Trade and other payables* 306,085 (306,085) (306,085) – –

1,424,826 (1,598,488) (411,355) (857,959) (329,174)
Derivative financial instruments
Forward exchange contracts (gross-settled) (21)
-	 Outflow (1,975) (1,640) (335) –
-	 Inflow 1,989 1,652 337 –

Interest rate swaps used for hedging (net-settled) 81 (81) (56) (25) –
60 (67) (44) (23) –

2011
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank overdraft 20,943 (22,427) (22,427) – –
Variable interest rate loans 267,786 (315,818) (20,799) (236,586) (58,433)
Fixed interest rate notes 541,693 (642,636) (110,674) (351,302) (180,660)
Trade and other payables* 213,890 (213,890) (213,890) – –

1,044,312 (1,194,771) (367,790) (587,888) (239,093)
Derivative financial instruments
Forward exchange contracts (gross-settled) (546)
-	 Outflow (80,961) (80,961) – –
-	 Inflow 81,611 81,611 – –

Forward exchange contracts (gross-settled) 354
-	 Outflow (38,955) (38,955) – –
-	 Inflow 38,640 38,640 – –

Interest rate swaps used for hedging (net-settled) 41 (65) (41) (24) –
(151) 270 294 (24) –

	 *	 Exclude derivatives (shown separately) and progress payments from customers.
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Cash flows

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Within
1 year

Between
1 and 

5 years
More than

5 years
Company $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2012
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Variable interest rate loans 365,290 (390,712) (17,219) (373,493) –
Fixed interest rate notes 553,229 (667,200) (23,705) (359,865) (283,630)
Trade and other payables 34,813 (34,813) (34,813) – –

953,332 (1,092,725) (75,737) (733,358) (283,630)

2011
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Variable interest rate loans 120,556 (131,365) (2,358) (129,007) –
Fixed interest rate notes 541,693 (642,636) (110,674) (351,302) (180,660)
Trade and other payables* 135,213 (135,213) (135,213) – –

797,462 (909,214) (248,245) (480,309) (180,660)

Derivative financial instruments
Forward exchange contracts (gross-settled) (514)
-	 Outflow (77,910) (77,910) – –
-	 Inflow 78,527 78,527 – –

Forward exchange contracts (gross-settled) 354
-	 Outflow (38,955) (38,955) – –
-	 Inflow 38,640 38,640 – –

(160) 302 302 – –

	 *	 Excludes derivatives (shown separately).

	 The maturity analysis shows the undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities of the Group and the Company on the 
basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity.

	 For derivative financial instruments, the cash inflows/(outflows) represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows relating 
to these instruments.  Gross inflows and outflows are included for derivatives that are gross-settled on a simultaneous basis.  

	 Except for the cash flow arising from the intragroup financial guarantee, it is not expected that the cash flows included in the 
maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

	 At the reporting date, the Company does not consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Company under the 
intragroup financial guarantee.
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	 Currency risk

	 Exposure to currency risk

	 The Group’s and Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows based on notional amounts:

31 
December

2012

31 
December

2011
US dollars US dollars

$’000 $’000
Group

Trade and other receivables 160,743 245,732
Cash and cash equivalents 39,873 75,478
Loans and borrowings (227,298) (154,260)
Trade and other payables (156,542) (96,952)

(183,224) 69,998
Company

Trade and other receivables 4,382 302,601
Cash and cash equivalents 19,176 808
Loans and borrowings (125,825) (120,556)
Trade and other payables (152) (9,912)

(102,419) 172,941

	 Sensitivity analysis

	 A 10% strengthening of the Singapore dollar, as indicated below, against the US dollar at 31 December would have increased 
equity and profit before income tax in profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  This analysis is based on foreign currency 
exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period.  The 
analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.  The analysis is performed on the same 
basis for 2011, although the reasonably possible foreign exchange rate variances were different, as indicated below:

Group Company
Profit 

before
 income tax Equity

Profit 
before

 income tax Equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 December 2012
US dollars (10% strengthening) 18,322 – 10,242 –

31 December 2011
US dollars (10% strengthening) (7,000) – (17,294) –

	 A weakening of the Singapore dollar against the above currency at 31 December would have had the equal but opposite 
effect to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.
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	 Interest rate risk

	 Profile

	 At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Group Company
Carrying amount Carrying amount

2012 2011 2012 2011
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed rate instruments
Bank overdraft (41,456) (20,943) – –
Unsecured notes (553,229) (541,693) (553,229) (541,693)

(594,685) (562,636) (553,229) (541,693)

Variable rate instruments
Variable interest rate loans (524,056) (267,786) (365,290) (120,556)

	 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

	 The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and the Group 
does not designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model.  
Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

	 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

	 A change of 75 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit before 
income tax in profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign 
currency rates, remain constant.  The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2011.

Profit before 
income tax Equity

75 bp 
increase

75 bp 
decrease

75 bp 
increase

75 bp 
decrease

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 December 2012
Variable rate instruments (3,943) 3,943 – –

31 December 2011
Variable rate instruments (2,008) 2,008 – –

Company

31 December 2012
Variable rate instruments (2,744) 2,744 – –

31 December 2011
Variable rate instruments (904) 904 – –



97

DELIVERING INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS
LEADING THE WAY

97

DELIVERING INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS
LEADING THE WAY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

	 Accounting classifications and fair values

	 Fair values versus carrying amounts

	 The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statements of financial 
position, are as follows:

Note
Designated  
at fair value

Loans and 
receivables

Other
financial

liabilities
within the

scope of
FRS 39

Total
carrying
amount Fair value

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 December 2012
Cash and cash equivalents 15 – 541,232 – 541,232 541,232
Trade and other receivables* 11 – 217,717 – 217,717 217,888
Financial receivables 10 – 717,359 – 717,359 722,251
Gross amounts due for contract work 13 – 119,059 – 119,059 119,059
Financial assets designated at fair value 

through profit or loss 11 21 – – 21 21
21 1,595,367 – 1,595,388 1,600,451

Secured bank loans 17 – – (98,462) (98,462) (98,462)
Unsecured bank loans 17 – – (425,594) (425,594) (425,594)
Unsecured notes 17 – – (553,229) (553,229) (582,816)
Trade and other payables# 16 – – (306,085) (306,085) (306,085)
Financial liabilities designated at fair 

value through profit or loss 16 (81) – – (81) (81)
Bank overdraft 17 – – (41,456) (41,456) (41,456)

(81) – (1,424,826) (1,424,907) (1,454,494)

	 *	 Excluding derivatives (shown separately) and prepayment.
	 #	 Excluding progress payments from customers and derivatives (shown separately).
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Note
Designated  
at fair value

Loans and 
receivables

Other
financial

liabilities
within the

scope of 
FRS 39

Total
carrying
amount Fair value

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 December 2011
Cash and cash equivalents 15 – 662,358 – 662,358 662,358
Trade and other receivables* 11 – 241,172 – 241,172 241,356
Financial receivables 10 – 423,257 – 423,257 424,527
Gross amounts due for contract work 13 – 176,910 – 176,910 176,910
Financial assets designated at fair value 

through profit or loss 11 546 – – 546 546
546 1,503,697 – 1,504,243 1,505,697

Secured bank loans 17 – – (84,578) (84,578) (84,578)
Unsecured bank loans 17 – – (183,208) (183,208) (183,208) 
Unsecured notes 17 – – (541,693) (541,693) (563,951)
Trade and other payables# 16 – – (213,890) (213,890) (213,890)
Financial liabilities designated at fair 

value through profit or loss 16 (395) – – (395) (395)
Bank overdraft 17 – – (20,943) (20,943) (20,943)

(395) – (1,044,312) (1,044,707) (1,066,965)

	 *	 Excluding derivatives (shown separately) and prepayments.
	 #	 Excluding progress payments from customers and derivatives (shown separately).

Note
Designated  
at fair value

Loans and 
receivables

Other
financial

liabilities
within the

scope of 
FRS 39

Total
carrying
amount Fair value

Company $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 December 2012
Cash and cash equivalents 15 – 176,216 – 176,216 176,216
Trade and other receivables* 11 – 1,247,733 – 1,247,733 1,247,733

– 1,423,949 – 1,423,949 1,423,949

Unsecured bank loans 17 – – (365,290) (365,290) (365,290)
Unsecured notes 17 – – (553,229) (553,229) (582,816)
Trade and other payables 16 – – (34,813) (34,813) (34,813)

– – (953,332) (953,332) (982,919)

	 *	 Excluding prepayments.
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Note
Designated  
at fair value

Loans and 
receivables

Other
financial

liabilities
within the

scope of 
FRS 39

Total 
carrying
amount Fair value

Company $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31 December 2011
Cash and cash equivalents 15 – 96,407 – 96,407 96,407
Trade and other receivables* 11 – 1,170,663 – 1,170,663 1,170,663
Financial assets designated at fair value 

through profit or loss 11 514 – – 514 514
514 1,267,070 – 1,267,584 1,267,584

Unsecured bank loans 17 – – (120,556) (120,556) (120,556)
Unsecured notes 17 – – (541,693) (541,693) (563,951)
Trade and other payables# 16 – – (135,213) (135,213) (135,213)
Financial liabilities designated at fair 

value through profit or loss 16 (354) – – (354) (354)
(354) – (797,462) (797,816) (820,074)

	 *	 Excluding derivatives (shown separately) and prepayments.
	 #	 Excluding derivatives (shown separately).

	 Interest rates used for determining fair value

	 The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable, are based on the government yield curve at the 
reporting date plus an adequate credit spread, and are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

Amounts due from associates (non-trade) 6.0% 6.0%
Unsecured notes 3.0% 3.0%
Financial receivables 2.18% - 4.78%  2.36% -4.45%
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	 Fair value hierarchy

	 The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method.  The different levels have been 
defined as follows:

Level 1: 	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: 	 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

Level 3:	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

31 December 2012
Derivatives – (60) – (60)

– (60) – (60)

31 December 2011
Derivatives – 151 – 151

– 151 – 151

Company*

31 December 2011
Derivatives – 160 – 160

– 160 – 160

	 * 	none as at 31 December 2012
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21	Re venue

Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Construction revenue 605,971 418,530
Operating and maintenance income 49,331 39,001
Sale of goods 16,633 15,576
Finance income 8,294 6,755
Finance lease income 331 394
Others 1,824 1,719

682,384 481,975

22	 Finance costs

Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Interest expense - bank loans 28,460 22,597

23	P rofit before income tax

	 The following items have been included in arriving at profit before income tax:

Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Net foreign currency exchange loss 3,151 2,123
Rental income from leasehold property (920) –
Interest income:
-	 fixed deposits with financial institutions (1,025) (775)
-	 associates (2,287) (2,266)
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments 895 594
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (5,223) (11,899)
Impairment of trade and other receivables 520 2,889
Financial receivables written off – 3,056
Operating lease expense 15,158 8,884
Professional fees paid to firms in which a director is member 164 279
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Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Contribution to defined contribution plans, included in staff costs 7,050 6,531
Employees’ share option expense, included in staff costs 2,810 1,038
Research expense 1,423 1,380
Audit fees paid to:
-	 auditors of the Company 527 579
-	 other member firms of KPMG International 183 218
-	 other auditors 68 88
Non-audit fees paid to:
-	 auditors of the Company 35 28
-	 other member firms of KPMG International - 49

24	 Tax expense

Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000
Current tax expense
Current year 13,021 11,655
Over provided in prior years (1,567) (3,292)

11,454 8,363
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 831 (2,006)
Over provided in prior years – (39)

831 (2,045)

Tax expense 12,285 6,318

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit before income tax 76,998 62,043

Income tax using Singapore tax rate of 17% 13,090 10,547
Effect of different tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 472 998
Tax exempt income (1,091) (2,199)
Non-deductible expenses 3,902 5,558
Effect of partial tax exemption and tax reliefs (2,521) (5,255)
Over provided in prior years (1,567) (3,331)

12,285 6,318

	 A subsidiary was granted Pioneer Status in Singapore in respect of the production and sale of membrane systems.  
Accordingly, the subsidiary enjoys tax exemption on income arising from sale of membrane systems subject to the terms 
and conditions of the Pioneer Status.
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	 Another subsidiary was awarded a 7-year Development and Expansion Incentive.  Qualifying income earned during this 
period is taxed at a concessionary rate of 5%.

	 In accordance with the “Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China for Enterprises with Foreign Investment and 
Foreign Enterprises”, certain subsidiaries are entitled to full exemption from Enterprise Income Tax (EIT) for the first two 
years and a 50% reduction in EIT for the next three years, commencing from the first profitable year after offsetting all 
tax losses carried forward from the previous five years.  A new Corporate Income Tax Law which took effect on 1 January 
2008 stated that subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China which have not utilised their five-year tax concessions under 
the old tax law were required to utilise their first year of tax concession commencing from 2008.  In addition, one of the 
subsidiaries has High-Technology Status which is subject to a tax rate of 15%.

	 Subsidiaries incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (BVI) are exempt from income taxes in BVI in accordance with local tax 
laws.

25	 Earnings per share

	 Basic earnings per share

	 The calculation of basic earnings per share at 31 December 2012 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of $36,994,000 (2011: $37,027,000), and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 835,839,000 (2011: 
860,219,000), calculated as follows:

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
Group

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Profit for the year 60,994 53,027
Dividends on CPS (24,000) (16,000)
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 36,994 37,027

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
Group

Note 2012 2011
’000 ’000

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 18 858,679 857,931
Effect of own shares held (23,128) (345)
Effects of share options exercised 288 2,633
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 835,839 860,219



104

ANNUAL REPORT 2012
HYFLUX LTD

104

ANNUAL REPORT 2012
HYFLUX LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

	 Diluted earnings per share

	 The calculation of diluted earnings per share at 31 December 2012 was based on profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of $36,994,000 (2011: $37,027,000), and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the 
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares of 837,238,000 (2011: 865,451,000), calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)
Group

2012 2011
’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 835,839 860,219
Effect of share options on issue 1,399 5,232
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 December 837,238 865,451

	 The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was based 
on quoted market prices for the period during which the options were outstanding.

26	 Segment Reporting

(a)	O perating segments

	 The Group has two reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units.  The 
strategic business units offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require 
different technology and marketing strategies.  For each of the strategic business units, the Group’s CEO (the chief 
operating decision maker) reviews internal management reports on at least a quarterly basis.  The following summary 
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

•	 Municipal.  Supplier of comprehensive range of innovative water and fluid treatment solutions to municipalities 
and governments, including commissioning, operation and maintenance of a wide range of water treatment 
and liquid separation plants on a turnkey or Design-Build-Own-Operate-Transfer arrangements.

•	 Industrial. Liquid separation applications for the manufacturing sector such as the pharmaceutical, 
biotechnology, food processing and petrochemical oil-related industries.

	 Other operations include emerging segments such as the renewable resources management business.  None of 
these segments meets any of the quantitative thresholds for determining reportable segments in 2012 or 2011.

	 Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below.  Performance is measured based on 
segment profit before income tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s 
CEO.  Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most 
relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.  
Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.

(b)	 Geographical segments

	 The Group operates in 3 principal geographical areas: Asia ex-China, China and Middle East & North Africa.  In 
presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical 
location of customers.  Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.
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	 Information about reportable segments

Municipal Industrial
All other

 segments Total
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenues 629,146 417,816 49,831 58,784 3,407 5,375 682,384 481,975

Inter-segment revenue 46,416 115,225 429 2,839 8,803 703 55,648 118,767

Interest income 1,811 203 1,381 1,322 1 8 3,193 1,533

Finance costs (14,956) (11,734) – (3) (556) (3) (15,512) (11,740)

Depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment (8,889) (7,778) (8,532) (16,315) (2,127) (387) (19,548) (24,480)

Reportable segment profit/
(loss) before income tax 91,578 93,972 6,630 (12,800) (2,791) 2,660 95,417 83,832

Share of profit/(loss) of 
associates, net of income tax 2,070 287 (418) (1,145) 2,601 2,084 4,253 1,226

Tax (expenses)/income (11,455) (6,160) 261 (450) (1,091) 292 (12,285) (6,318)

Operating lease expenses (13,846) (6,713) (295) (493) (1,017) (1,678) (15,158) (8,884)

Contribution to defined 
contribution plan, included 
in staff cost (5,221) (5,099) (1,437) (1,316) (392) (116) (7,050) (6,531)

Reportable segment assets 1,741,235 1,418,559 186,189 214,036 104,412 86,088 2,031,836 1,718,683

Investments in associates 92,741 99,111 1,737 2,550 9,614 7,226 104,092 108,887

Capital expenditure 13,347 12,419 318 601 30,610 260 44,275 13,280

Reportable segment liabilities 479,373 353,344 24,808 25,683 50,615 55,623 554,796 434,650
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	 Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other material items

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Revenues
Total revenue for reportable segments 678,977 476,600
Other revenue 3,407 5,375
Consolidated revenue 682,384 481,975

Profit or loss
Total profit or loss for reportable segments 98,208 81,172
Other profit or loss (2,791) 2,660

95,417 83,832
Unallocated amounts:
-	 Other corporate expenses (22,672) (23,015)
Share of profit of associates, net of income tax 4,253 1,226
Consolidated profit before income tax 76,998 62,043

Assets
Total assets for reportable segments 1,927,424 1,632,595
Other assets 104,412 86,088
Investments in associates 104,092 108,887
Other unallocated amounts 214,416 204,895
Consolidated total assets 2,350,344 2,032,465

Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments 504,181 379,027
Other liabilities 50,615 55,623
Other unallocated amounts 918,519 662,248
Consolidated total liabilities 1,473,315 1,096,898

	 Other material items in 2012

Reportable
segment 

totals Adjustments
Consolidated

totals
$’000 $’000 $’000

Interest income 3,192 120* 3,312
Finance costs (14,956) (13,504)* (28,460)
Capital expenditure 13,665 37,607^ 51,272
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (17,421) (11,971)^ (29,392)
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	 Other material items in 2011

Reportable
segment 

totals Adjustments
Consolidated

totals
$’000 $’000 $’000

Interest income 1,525 1,516* 3,041
Finance costs (11,737) (10,860)* (22,597)
Capital expenditure 13,020 45,440^ 58,460
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (24,093) (12,544)^ (36,637)

*	 This represents interest income and interest expense that are not allocated to segments, as this activity is driven by 
Group Treasury, which manages the cash position of the Group.

^	 This represents capital expenditure and its related depreciation, amortisation and impairment incurred as a result 
of the overall business strategy adopted by the Group.  The allocation of these resources to the various reportable 
segments cannot be determined.

	 Geographical information

Revenues
Non-current

assets
$’000 $’000

31 December 2012

Middle East & North Africa 28,871 88,806
People’s Republic of China 158,902 574,520
Asia ex-China 494,611 772,102

682,384 1,435,428

	 31 December 2011

Middle East & North Africa 114,410 99,504
People’s Republic of China 140,716 529,612
Asia ex-China 226,849 303,856

481,975 932,972
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27	 Determination of fair values

	 A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and 
non-financial assets and liabilities.  Fair values have been determined for measurement and disclosure purposes based on 
the following methods.  When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is 
disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

	 Property, plant and equipment

	 The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on market values.  
The market value of property is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation 
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had 
each acted knowledgeably and willingly.

	 Intangible assets

	 The fair value of intangible assets received as consideration for providing construction services in a service concession 
arrangement is estimated by reference to the fair value of the construction services provided.  The fair value of the 
construction services provided is calculated as the estimated total cost plus a profit margin which the Group considers 
as a reasonable margin.  When the Group receives an intangible asset and a financial asset as consideration for providing 
construction services in a service concession arrangement, the Group estimates the fair value of intangible assets as the 
difference between the fair value of the construction services provided and the fair value of the financial asset received.

	 The fair value of other intangible assets is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from the use and 
eventual sale of the assets.

	 Trade and other receivables

	 The fair value of trade and other receivables, including service concession receivables, is estimated as the present value of 
future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

	 Non-derivative financial liabilities

	 Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 
interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.  For finance leases, the market rate of 
interest is determined by reference to similar lease agreements.

	 Derivatives

	 The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their quoted price, if available.  If a quoted price is not available, 
then fair value is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward 
price for the residual maturity of the contract using a credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds).

	 Intra-group financial guarantees

	 The value of financial guarantees provided by the Company to its subsidiaries is determined by reference to the difference 
in the interest rates, by comparing the actual rates charged by the bank with these guarantees made available, with the 
estimated rates that the banks would have charged had these guarantees not been made available.
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	 Share-based payment transactions

	 The fair value of the employees’ share options is measured using the Black-Scholes standard option valuation model.  
Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based 
on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), weighted 
average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general option holder behaviour), expected 
dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds).  Service and non-market performance conditions 
attached to the grants are not taken into account in determining the fair value of the options.

28	 Financial risk management

	 The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•	 credit risk
•	 liquidity risk
•	 market risk

	 This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.  Further quantitative disclosures are 
included throughout these financial statements.

	 Risk management framework

	 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework.  The Board has established the Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring 
the Group’s risk management policies.  The committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities.

	 The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate 
risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. 

	 The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies 
and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.  
The Group Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit.  Internal Audit undertakes regular reviews of 
risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.

	 Loan and other receivables

	 The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.  However, 
management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and 
country in which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk. 

	 The Group has a credit policy in place which establishes credit limits for all customers and monitors their balances on an 
ongoing basis.
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	 The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of loan 
and other receivables.  The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually 
significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that 
have been incurred but not yet identified.  The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment 
statistics for similar financial assets.

	 Guarantees

	 The Group’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to subsidiaries and joint ventures.

	 Liquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

	 Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, including the 
servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be 
predicted, such as natural disasters.  In addition, the Group maintains lines of credit that can be drawn down to meet short-
term financing needs. 

	 Market risk

	 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will 
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of market risk management is 
to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

	 The Group buys and sells derivatives, and also incurs financial liabilities, in order to manage market risks.  All such transactions 
are carried out within the guidelines set by the Risk Management Committee.  Generally the Group seeks to apply hedge 
accounting in order to manage volatility in profit or loss.

	 Capital management

	 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to support the Group’s growth strategy and maximise 
shareholder value with the optimal capital structure.

	 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.  To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares.  



111

DELIVERING INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS
LEADING THE WAY

111

DELIVERING INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS
LEADING THE WAY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

	 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital.  The Group includes within net 
debt, loans and borrowings, less cash and cash equivalents.  Total equity of the Group represents capital for the Group.

Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Loans and borrowings 1,118,741 830,422
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (541,232) (662,358)
Net debt 577,509 168,064

Total equity 877,029 935,567

Gearing ratio 66% 18%

	 From time to time, the Group purchases its own shares on the market pursuant to the Shares Purchase Mandate (the 
Mandate) obtained at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) on 26 April 2012.  The Mandate is subject to renewal annually by 
Shareholders at the AGM. 

	 There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

	 The Group and its subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements other than the following:

(i)	 Certain subsidiaries of the Group are required by the Foreign Enterprise Law of the People’s Republic of China 
(PRC) to contribute to and maintain a non-distributable Statutory Reserve Fund (SRF) whose utilisation is subject to 
approval by the relevant PRC authorities (see note 18).

(ii)	 The Company is required under financial covenants clause to maintain a consolidated total tangible net worth (TNW) 
for the Group of not less than $160 million, consolidated net borrowings to TNW of not more than 1.5 times; and 
consolidated earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation to consolidated interest expenses of at 
least 3 times.

	 These externally imposed capital requirements have been complied with by the Company and the relevant subsidiaries for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2012.

29	O perating leases

	 Leases as lessor

	 Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Within one year 4,900 –
Between one and five years 8,994 –

13,894 –



112

ANNUAL REPORT 2012
HYFLUX LTD

112

ANNUAL REPORT 2012
HYFLUX LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

29	O perating leases

	 Leases as lessee

	 Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Within one year 12,286 9,984
Between one and five years 42,478 38,635
More than five years 45,115 49,474

99,879 98,093

	 The Group has various operating lease agreements for site equipment, membrane production facilities, office equipment, 
offices and rental of land.  Most leases contain renewable options and some leases contain escalation clauses.  The lease 
terms typically do not contain restrictions on the Group’s activities concerning dividends, additional debt or further leasing.

30	 Capital commitments

(i)	 At 31 December 2012, the Group has outstanding commitments in respect of uncalled capital of approximately 
US$5,100,000 (2011: US$5,100,000) in an associate.

(ii)	 At 31 December 2012, the Group has outstanding capital commitments of $1,974,000 (2011: $23,988,000).

31	 Contingencies

	 The Group has potential contingencies arising from the delayed completion of the construction of the Magtaa desalination 
plant in Algeria in its capacity as the Engineering, Procurement and Construction (EPC) contractor.   In respect of such 
delays, the Group has brought several claims against the project owner for an extension of the contractual completion 
date as the delay was primarily caused by various reasons that were beyond the control of the Group, including a fire that 
broke out in July 2011 which destroyed key materials and equipment, as well as delay in testing and commissioning works 
due to lack of power supply by the local government.  Notwithstanding this, in 2012, the project owner has claimed for full 
contractual liquidated damages under the EPC contract.  The Group is confident that its claim for extension of time will 
invalidate the liquidated damages claimed by the project owner and no contingent liabilities have been recognised as at 31 
December 2012.  

	 In another desalination project in Algeria which was completed and handed over in 2011, the Group has potential 
contingencies arising from the delayed completion of a desalination plant in its capacity as the EPC contractor.  The project 
owner has claimed for full contractual liquidated damages due to the delay in completion under the EPC contract.  On its 
part, the Group has claimed for an extension of the contractual completion date as it had been prevented by the project 
owner from commencing testing and commissioning works sooner than it was eventually allowed to do so.  Furthermore, 
the Group, in its capacity as the Operation and Maintenance contractor, has a claim against the project owner for unpaid 
mobilisation fees that it is contractually entitled to. As at 31 December 2012, the Group is still in negotiation with the project 
owner and no contingent liabilities have been recognised.  

	 In a separate design and supply of a seawater desalination facility, the customer has claimed for liquidated damages from 
the delay in completion.  On its part, the Group in its capacity as the water technology provider for the project, has claimed 
for an extension of the completion deadline as well as prolongation costs as the customer, who is responsible for the civil 
and structural works for the project, was late in its deliverables thereby obstructing the timely completion of project.  As at 
31 December 2012, the Company is still in negotiation with the customer and no contingent liabilities or assets have been 
recognised. 
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	 The Group has potential contingencies arising from delayed completion of a waste water plant construction project with 
a local government agency.  The delay in completion was due to, amongst other things, delays due to inclement weather, 
difficult site conditions, as well as modifications of original specifications from that of tender information.  As at 31 December 
2012, the Group has applied for an extension to the project completion date and negotiating for variation orders for the 
additional work performed.  As at 31 December 2012, no contingent liabilities or assets have been recognised by the Group 
in relation to the project. 

	 On 28 February 2012, the Company announced that it has been served with an Arbitration Notice (the Notice) by the China 
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission. The Notice relates to an arbitration (Arbitration) commenced by 
an associate of the Group, Ningxia Hypow Bio-Technology Co., Ltd (the Claimant). The Arbitration claim is for an amount up 
to RMB436 million for certain non-water industrial project works carried out by subsidiaries of the Group for the Claimant. 
The Company and the subsidiaries involved have filed their defence as well as counterclaims against the Claimant to recover 
the shareholders loan made to the Claimant, outstanding EPC payments and deposits placed with the Claimant for contract 
manufacturing purposes. At 31 December 2012, the outcome of the Arbitration remains uncertain and no contingent 
liabilities or assets have been recognised by the Group.

32	Related  parties

	 Transactions with key management personnel

	 Key management personnel

	 Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Group.  The directors and management committee of the Company and the Group are 
considered as key management personnel of the Company and the Group. 

	 Key management personnel compensation comprised:

Group
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Directors’ fees 550 541
Short-term employee benefits 3,542 4,589
Share-based payments 1,058 692

5,150 5,822

Comprise amounts paid/payable to:
-	 Directors of the Company 1,262 2,324
-	 Other key management personnel 3,888 3,498

5,150 5,822

	 The directors of the Company also participate in the Hyflux Employees’ Share Option Scheme.  Details of options granted 
to the directors under the Scheme are described in note 19.
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32	Related  parties

	 Other related party transactions

	 Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, significant transactions carried out in the normal course of 
business on terms agreed with related parties are as follows:

Transaction value  
for the year ended  

31 December
Balance outstanding  

as at 31 December
2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group

Joint venture
Revenue from construction contracts 39,178 50,168 29,954 25,470
Revenue from maintenance contracts 6,249 4,919 4,446 3,458
Rental income 190 170 332 155
Service income 1,017 980 914 976

Associates
Revenue from construction contracts 1,091 74,751 38,259 84,391
Revenue from maintenance contracts 28,965 18,991 5,318 2,159

33	 Subsequent events

	 On 5 March 2013, the Company granted 2,180,000 share options pursuant to Hyflux Employees’ Share Option Scheme 2011 
at an exercise price of $1.396 per share.  The validity period of options granted is from 5 March 2013 to 4 March 2023.
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Introduction

Hyflux Ltd (“the Company”) continues to place great importance on the governance of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, 
“the Group”), which it believes is vital to its well being and success. The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of 
corporate governance and processes that will enhance the Group’s effectiveness, ensure the appropriate degree of accountability 
and transparency and an increase in long term value and return to shareholders. 

The Group subscribes to the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore  (“Code”) 
and believes that this forms a sound platform for supporting good corporate governance practices.  

This corporate governance statement ("Statement") outlines the main corporate governance practices of the Group with specific 
reference made to the principles and guidelines of the Code, forming part of the continuing obligations set out in the Listing 
Manual of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST") .

The Company will continue to review and refine its practices in light of best practices in the market, consistent with the needs and 
the circumstances of the Group.

In developing the appropriate corporate governance practices, the Group takes into account all applicable legislations and 
recognised standards.  The Company is committed to instilling and maintaining good corporate governance at all times. 

The Board is pleased to report that throughout the reporting period for the financial year ended 31 December 2012, the Company 
complied with the Code’s applicable principles and guidelines. 

BOARD MATTERS

BOARD’S CONDUCT OF ITS AFFAIRS: 

Principle 1: Effective Board to lead and control the Company

Role of the Board

The primary role of the Company’s board of directors (“Board”) is to protect and enhance long-term shareholders' value and 
to ensure that the Company is run in accordance with best international management and corporate governance practices, 
appropriate to the needs and development of the Company.

The Board is responsible for general oversight of the Company’s activities and performance and for setting the Company’s 
overall strategic direction. It provides leadership and guidance on corporate strategies, business directions, risk policies and 
implementation of corporate objectives, thereby taking responsibility for the overall corporate governance of the Group.

In delegating responsibility for the day-to-day operation and leadership of the Company to the Executive Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer and the management team, the Board has processes and systems in place to ensure that significant issues, risks 
and major strategic decisions are monitored and considered at Board level. 

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established several Board Committees, namely, Audit Committee, 
Nominating Committee, Remuneration Committee and Risk Management Committee. These Board Committees function within 
clearly defined terms of reference, which are reviewed on a regular basis.

Matters which are specifically reserved to the full Board for decision are those involving material acquisitions, disposal of assets, 
corporate or financial restructuring, share issuances, dividends and other returns to shareholders, conflict of interest for substantial 
shareholder or Director, as well as interested person transactions.
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The meeting schedules of all the Board and Board Committees for the calendar year are given to all Directors well in advance. The 
Board may convene additional meetings to address any specific significant matters that may arise from time to time. 

The Articles of Association of the Company provide for Directors to conduct meetings by teleconferencing or videoconferencing. 
The Board and Board Committees may also make decisions by way of circulating resolutions.

The Board held four meetings in the 2012 financial year. A summary of attendance by Directors at Board and Board Committees 
meetings for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 is as follows:

Board of Directors Audit Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Risk Management 
Committee

Name of Directors

No. of 
Meetings 

Held

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended

No. of 
Meetings 

Held

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended

No. of 
Meetings 

Held

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended

No. of 
Meetings 

Held

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended

No. of 
Meetings 

Held

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin 4 3 4 3* 2 2 2 2* 5 5*
Teo Kiang Kok 4 4 NA NA 2 2 2 2 5 4
Lee Joo Hai 4 4 4 4 NA NA 2 2 5 5
Gay Chee Cheong 4 4 4 4 2 2 2 2 NA NA
Christopher 
Murugasu 4 4 NA NA 2 2 2 2 NA NA
Rajsekar 
Kuppuswami Mitta 4 4 4 3 NA NA NA NA 5 4
Simon Tay 4 3 NA NA NA NA NA NA 5 5
Gary Kee Eng Kwee 4 4 4 4 NA NA NA NA 1 1*

Legend:
*    	 Attendance by invitation
NA     	 Not Applicable

The Company has adopted a set of Policy on Signing Limits, setting out the level of authorization required for specific transactions, 
including those that require Board’s approval.

Newly appointed Directors are provided with a training and induction programme, so as to familiarise them with the Company’s 
business activities, strategic directions, policies and new key projects. In addition, newly appointed Directors are also introduced 
to the senior management team.

Directors are updated from time to time on changes in relevant laws and regulations; industry developments and business 
initiatives; and analyst and media commentaries on matters related to the Company and water industry.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

Principle 2: Strong and independent element on the Board

As at the date of this Statement, the Board comprises eight Directors, of whom six are Non-Executive Independent Directors.
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Composition of Board and Board Committees

Name of Directors Board
Audit 

Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Risk Management 
Committee

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin Executive Chairman and 
Director

Member

Teo Kiang Kok Lead 
Independent Director

Chairman Member Member

Lee Joo Hai Non-Executive 
Independent Director

Chairman Member Member

Gay Chee Cheong Non-Executive 
Independent Director

Member Member Chairman

Christopher Murugasu Non-Executive 
Independent Director

Member Member

Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta Non-Executive 
Independent Director

Member Chairman

Simon Tay Non-Executive 
Independent Director

Member

Gary Kee Eng Kwee Non-Executive 
Non-Independent Director

Member

The Board considers an independent Director as one who has no relationship with the Company, its related companies or its 
officers that could interfere or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent business 
judgment acting in the interests of the Company.  The Company’s policy is to have independent Directors make up at least half of 
the Board.

While all the Directors have equal responsibilities for the performance of the Group, Non-Executive Directors exercise no 
management function in the Company or any of its subsidiaries. The role of Non-Executive Directors is primarily to ensure that the 
strategies proposed by the management are fully discussed, vigorously examined, taking into consideration the long-term interest 
of the shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers and the communities in which the Group conducts its business.

The Board is of the view that there is a strong and independent element on the Board in that all Directors, other than Ms Olivia Lum 
Ooi Lin and Mr Gary Kee Eng Kwee, are Independent Directors. The present Board size and number of Board Committees facilitate 
effective decision making and is appropriate for the nature and scope of the Group’s business and operations.

The Board believes the composition of the Board requires consideration of a number of factors, including the mix in skills, abilities 
and expertise, the mix in the length of time Directors have had on the Board, as well as experience on other boards. 

The Board consists of respected business leaders and professionals whose collective core competencies and experience are 
extensive, diverse and relevant to the Group. The names, qualifications and relevant skills, experience and expertise of the Directors 
can be found on pages 8 to 10 of this report. As evidenced by this information, the Directors bring to the Board a broad range of 
experience and expertise.

Where necessary, the Company arranges informal meeting sessions for Independent Directors to meet without the presence of 
the management.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Principle 3: Clear division of responsibilities at the top of the Company

Ms Olivia Lum Ooi Lin is the Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Board considers that vesting 
two roles in the same person provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership in the development and execution of the 
Group’s business strategies and is beneficial to the Group. 

In compliance with the Code, the Board had appointed Mr Teo Kiang Kok as Lead Independent Director on 22 February 2012. If 
shareholders of the Company have serious concerns for which contact through the normal channels of the Executive Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer have failed to resolve or is inappropriate, they may contact the Lead 
Independent Director.

The Board is of the opinion that the process of decision making by the Board has been independent, based on collective decisions 
without any individual exercising any considerable concentration of power or influence. 

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Principle 4: Formal and transparent process for appointment of new directors to the Board

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) has been tasked by the Board to identify, select and recommend individuals with the appropriate 
skills, expertise and experience for appointment, thereby ensuring a balanced and effective Board at all times. 

The NC comprises four Directors:
Mr Teo Kiang Kok (Chairman) 			 
Mr Gay Chee Cheong
Ms Olivia Lum Ooi Lin
Mr Christopher Murugasu
				  
The primary function and duties of the NC are outlined as follows:
 
1.	 to make recommendations to the Board on all Board appointments and re-nominations having regard to the composition and 

each Director’s competencies, commitment, contribution and performance (e.g. attendance, preparedness, participation, 
candour, and any other salient factors);

2.	 to ensure that all Directors would be required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals 
and at least once in every three years;

3.	 to determine annually whether a Director is independent, in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the 
Code; 

4.	 to review whether a Director is able to and has adequately carried out his duties as a Director of the Company, in particular 
where the Director concerned has multiple board representations; and

5.	 to consider how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and to propose objective performance criteria.
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In carrying out the annual assessment of the independence of the Non-Executive Directors, the NC considered the following 
attributes and contributions of all the Non-Executive Independent Directors and found that the length of tenure does not have any 
impact on their independence:
 
1.	 The Non-Executive Independent Directors provide their objective and constructive views to the Board and management;
  
2.	 The Non-Executive Independent Directors always speak up and offer practical solutions to issues and work towards 

increasing value of the Group for the benefit of all shareholders; and

3.	 The Non-Executive Independent Directors evaluate and assess the information provided to the Board in an independent 
and constructive manner and render such advice as may be necessary to assist management to implement plans/policies 
adopted by the Group.

The NC believes that the Non-Executive Independent Directors’ experience and knowledge of the Group’s business, combined 
with their external business and professional experience enable them to provide effective challenges and make constructive 
contributions to management discussions. 

In addition, all the Non-Executive Independent Directors have made written confirmations to their independence in accordance 
with the Code and the SGX-ST’s Listing Manual.

Accordingly, the NC is of the view that in respect of financial year ended 31 December 2012, Mr Teo Kiang Kok, Mr Lee Joo Hai, 
Mr Gay Chee Cheong, Mr Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta, Mr Christopher Murugasu and Mr Simon Tay are  independent. The Board 
accepts the NC’s view and affirms the independence of the Non-Executive Independent Directors.

The NC has recommended the nomination of Directors retiring by rotation under the Company’s Articles of Association, namely, 
Mr Lee Joo Hai and Mr Gay Chee Cheong.

In reviewing the nomination of the retiring Directors, the NC considered the performance and contribution of each of the retiring 
Directors, having regard not only to their attendance and participation at Board and Board Committees meetings but also the time 
and efforts devoted to the Group’s business and affairs.

BOARD PERFORMANCE

Principle 5: Formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and contributions by each Director

The Code recommends that the NC be responsible for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the individual 
Directors’ contribution. The NC believes that it is more appropriate and effective to assess the Board as a whole, bearing in mind 
that each member of the Board contributes in different ways to the success of the Group. 

The NC in conducting the evaluation and appraisal process focuses on a set of performance criteria which includes the evaluation of 
the size and composition of the Board, the Board’s access to information, Board processes and accountability, Board performance 
in relation to discharging its principal responsibilities and the Directors’ standards of conduct. 

The Board is of the view that the financial indicators, as set out in the Code as a guide for the evaluation of the Board and its 
Directors, may not be appropriate as they are more relevant as a form of measurement of the management’s performance.  The 
NC conducted a Board performance evaluation to assess the effectiveness of the Board throughout the financial year ended 31 
December 2012 and is satisfied that sufficient effort, time and attention have been given by the Directors to the affairs of the Group.
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ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Principle 6: Board members to have complete, adequate and timely information

The Board has separate and independent access to senior management of the Company, the Company Secretary and the external 
auditors at all times. The Directors also have unrestricted access to the Company’s records and information, all minutes of meetings 
held by the Board and Board Committees and management accounts to enable them to carry out their duties.  

The Company Secretary attends all Board and Board Committees meetings. The Company Secretary administers, attends and 
prepares minutes of the Board and Board Committees meetings, and assists in ensuring that Board procedures are followed 
and reviewed in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association so that the Board functions effectively and the relevant 
rules and regulations applicable to the Company are complied with. The Company Secretary’s role is to advise the Board on all 
governance matters, ensuring that legal and regulatory requirements, as well as Board policies and procedures are complied with. 
The appointment and the removal of the Company Secretary are subject to the Board’s approval.

Should Directors, whether as a group or individually, require professional advice, the Company shall upon the direction of the 
Board, appoint a professional advisor selected by such Director(s), approved by management, to render the service. The costs of 
such service shall be borne by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES

Principle 7: Formal and transparent procedure for fixing remuneration packages of Directors and senior management 

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises four Directors: 
Mr Gay Chee Cheong  (Chairman)
Mr Teo Kiang Kok			
Mr Christopher Murugasu
Mr Lee Joo Hai		

The RC is committed to the principles of accountability and transparency; and it ensures that remuneration arrangements 
demonstrate a clear link between reward and performance.

The RC is responsible for ensuring a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration, and for 
fixing the remuneration packages of individual Director and senior management employees. 

The RC’s review covers all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonus, 
employees' share options and benefits in kind and specific remuneration package for each Director.  

In structuring a compensation framework for Executive Director and senior management employees, the RC seeks to link a 
proportion of the compensation to the Group’s performance. The RC also reviews and recommends to the Board the remuneration 
package for the Non-Executive Directors. Its recommendations are submitted for endorsement by the Board.  The RC, when 
deemed necessary, may obtain expert advice with regard to remuneration matters.

LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION

Principle 8: The level and structure of remuneration for Directors and senior management should be adequate, not excessive, and 
linked to performance

The remuneration policy of the Company is to provide compensation packages at market rates, reward performance and attract, 
retain and motivate Directors and members of the senior management team.
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The Executive Director does not receive Directors’ fees. The Executive Director and senior management employees’ remuneration 
packages are based on service contracts and their remuneration is determined having due regard to the performance of the 
individuals, the Group as well as market trends. 

Non-Executive Independent Directors are paid yearly Directors’ fees of an agreed amount based on their contributions, taking 
into account factors such as effort and time spent, responsibilities of the Directors and the need to pay competitive fees to attract, 
motivate and retain the Directors. 

DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

Principle 9: Clear disclosure of remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting the remuneration

An appropriate and attractive level of remuneration has been set to attract, retain and motivate Directors and employees. The 
remuneration package for Executive Director and employees consists of both fixed and variable components.  The variable 
component is determined based on the performance of the individual employee and the Group’s performance in the relevant 
financial year.  Annual increments and adjustments to remuneration are reviewed and approved taking into account the outcome 
of the annual appraisal of the employees. 

Non-Executive Directors are paid Directors’ fees that are subject to shareholders’ approval at the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting (“AGM”). The RC recommends a total Directors’ fees of S$550,000 be paid to Non-Executive Directors for the financial  
year ended 31 December 2012. This will be tabled for the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.
        
The following table sets out the summary compensation table for Directors and top five key executives for the financial year ended 
31 December 2012: 

  Salary Bonus Fees

Employees’ 
Share option 

Scheme

Allowances 
and other 
benefits Total

DIRECTORS
Between S$1,000,000 to S$1,250,000
Olivia Lum Ooi Lin 49% 4% 0% 44% 3% 100%

Below S$250,000
Gay Chee Cheong 0% 0% 73% 27% 0% 100%
Lee Joo Hai 0% 0% 75% 25% 0% 100%
Teo Kiang Kok 0% 0% 73% 27% 0% 100%
Christopher Murugasu 0% 0% 68% 32% 0% 100%
Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta 0% 0% 71% 29% 0% 100%
Simon Tay 0% 0% 93% 7% 0% 100%
Gary Kee Eng Kwee 0% 0% 93% 7% 0% 100%

TOP FIVE KEY EXECUTIVES 
Between S$1,000,000 to S$1,250,000 
Olivia Lum Ooi Lin 49% 4% 0% 44% 3% 100%

S$750,000 to S$1,000,000
Sam Ong 60% 20% 0% 11% 9% 100%

Below S$750,000
Cho Wee Peng 64% 21% 0% 12% 3% 100%
Winnifred Heap 62% 21% 0% 14% 3% 100%
Oon Jin Teik 70% 18% 0% 9% 3% 100%
Andrew Ngiam 72% 18% 0% 8% 2% 100%
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Immediate Family members of Directors

There are no immediate family members of Directors or controlling shareholders in employment with the Group and whose 
remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during financial year ended 31 December 2012.

ACCOUNTABILITY

Principle 10: Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position and 
prospects

The Board promotes timely and balanced disclosure of all material matters concerning the Group. It updates shareholders on 
the operations and financial position of the Group through quarterly, half yearly and full year results announcements as well as 
timely announcements of other matters as prescribed by the SGX-ST’s Listing Manual requirements and other relevant rules and 
regulations.  

The Board is accountable to shareholders for the management of the Group and the management is accountable to the Board by 
providing the Board with the necessary information for the discharge of its duties.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Principle 11: Establishment of Audit Committee with written terms of reference

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises four Directors:
Mr Lee Joo Hai (Chairman) 
Mr Gay Chee Cheong		
Mr Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta
Mr Gary Kee Eng Kwee	

In accordance with the principles in the Code, the AC comprises all Non-Executive Directors. The members of AC, collectively, 
have expertise and extensive experience in accounting, financial management and business, and are qualified to fulfill the AC’s 
responsibilities. 

The primary functions of the AC are as follows:

1.	 assists the Board in discharging its statutory responsibilities on financial and accounting matters;

2.	 reviews the financial and operating results and accounting policies of the Group;

3.	 reviews significant financial reporting issues and judgments relating to financial statements for each financial year, interim 
and annual results announcement before submission to the Board for approval;

4.	 reviews the adequacy of the Company’s internal control (financial and operational) and risk management policies and 
systems established by the management;

5.	 reviews the audit plans and reports of the external and internal auditors and considers the effectiveness of the actions taken 
by management on the auditors’ recommendations;

6.	 appraises and reports to the Board on the audits undertaken by the external and internal auditors, the adequacy of the 
disclosure of information, and the appropriateness and quality of the system of management and internal controls;

7.	 reviews the independence of external auditors annually and considers the appointment or re-appointment of external 
auditors and matters relating to the resignation or removal of the auditors and approves the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditors; and

8.	 reviews interested person transactions, as defined in the SGX-ST’s Listing Manual.
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In fulfilling its responsibilities, the AC receives regular reports from the management and the external auditors, Messrs KPMG LLP. 
The AC has full access to and co-operation of the management and meets with Messrs KPMG LLP in private at least once a year, 
and more frequently if necessary. 

The AC reviewed all the non-audit services provided by the external auditors and the aggregate amount of audit fees paid to them. 
The AC is satisfied that the nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors; hence has recommended the re-appointment of Messrs KPMG LLP as external auditors of the Company at the coming 
AGM of the Company.

The AC has explicit authority within the scope of its responsibilities to seek any information it requires or investigate any matter 
within its terms of reference. The AC has adequate resources to enable it to discharge its responsibilities properly.

The Board has put in place a confidential communication programme as endorsed by the AC.  Employees may, in confidence, raise 
concerns about possible corporate improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters and to ensure that arrangements 
are in place for the independent investigations of such matters and for appropriate follow up actions.  The details of the confidential 
communication programme and arrangements have been made available to all employees.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

Principle 12: The Board to ensure that the management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ 
investments and the Company’s assets

The AC is fully aware of the need to put in place a system of internal controls within the Group to safeguard the shareholders’ 
interests and the Group’s assets, and to manage risks.  The system is intended to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance 
against material misstatements or loss, and to safeguard assets and ensure maintenance of proper accounting records, reliability 
of financial information, compliance with appropriate legislations, regulations and best practices, and the identification and 
containment of business risks.

The Board regularly reviews and improves its business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business risks as 
well as taking appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks.  The management reviews all significant control policies 
and procedures and highlights all significant matters to the AC and the Board.  The financial risk management objectives and 
policies are outlined in the financial statements. Risk management alone does not guarantee that business undertakings will not 
fail. However, by identifying and managing risks that may arise, the Board is in a position to make more informed decisions and will 
benefit from a better balance between risk and reward. This will assist in protecting and creating shareholders’ value.

The AC, together with the Board, have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls put in place to address 
the key financial, operational and compliance risks affecting the operations.  

Based on the reports submitted by internal and external auditors, and reviews by the management, the Board with the concurrence 
of the AC are satisfied that the internal control systems put in place to address the key financial, operational and compliance risks 
affecting the operations are adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current business environment as at 31 December 2012.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Principle 13: Setting up independent internal audit function

The Board has put in place a dedicated team of internal auditors. The internal audit function includes reviewing the effectiveness 
of the material internal controls of the Group. The head of internal audit reports directly to the Chairman of the AC and has 
an appropriate standing within the Group. The AC meets with the internal auditor in private at least once a year. The AC also 
ensures that the internal audit function is adequately resourced, and reviews annually the adequacy of the internal audit function. 
The internal audit team meets the standards set by nationally and internationally recognized professional bodies including the 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors.
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Within this framework, the internal audit function provides reasonable assurance that the risks incurred by the Group in each 
major activity will be identified, analysed and managed by management.  The internal auditors will also make recommendations to 
enhance the effectiveness and security of the Group’s operations.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders

Principle 15: Shareholders’ participation at AGM

The Company is committed to regular and proactive communication with its shareholders. It aims to provide shareholders with 
clear, balanced, useful and material information on a timely basis to ensure that shareholders receive a balanced and up-to-date 
view of the Group’s performance and business.  

Communication is made through:

1.	 an annual report that is prepared and issued to all shareholders. The Board makes every effort to ensure that the annual 
report includes all relevant information about the Group, including future development and other disclosures required by 
the Companies’ Act, Chapter 50, and Singapore Statements of Accounting Standards;

2.	 quarterly and full-year financial statements comprising a summary of the financial information and affairs of the Group for 
the relevant period;

3.	 explanatory memoranda for AGM and extraordinary general meetings;

4.	 press releases on major developments of the Group;

5.	 disclosures to the SGX-ST via SGXNET; and

6.	 the Group’s website at http://www.hyflux.com at which shareholders can access information on the Group at all times.

In addition, shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s AGM to ensure a high level of accountability and to stay 
informed of the Group’s strategies and growth.  

In accordance with the principles in the Code, the full Board of Directors and the external auditors in office are required to attend 
the Company’s AGM and will address any question raised at such meeting. The Group fully supports the Code’s principle to 
encourage active shareholder participation.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) comprises four Directors:
Mr Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta (Chairman)
Mr Lee Joo Hai 
Mr Teo Kiang Kok
Mr Simon Tay
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The functions of the RMC are as follows:

1.	 to review with management, and, where needed, with external consultants on areas of risk that may affect the viability and 
smooth operations of the Group, as well as management’s risk mitigation efforts, with the view of safeguarding shareholder’s 
interest and Group’s assets;

2.	 to direct and work with management to develop and review policies and processes to address and manage identified areas 
of risk in a systematic and structured manner;

3.	 to make recommendations to the Board in relation to business risks that may affect the Group, as and when these may arise;

4.	 to review new investments; and

5.	 to perform any other functions as may be agreed by the Board.

Management Committee

The Management Committee comprises the following members:
Ms Olivia Lum Ooi Lin (Chairman)
Mr Sam Ong
Mr Cho Wee Peng
Ms Winnifred Heap
Mr Oon Jin Teik
Dr Andrew Ngiam
Mr Peter Wu

DEALING IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted its own internal compliance code pursuant to the SGX-ST’s best practices on dealings in securities and 
these are applicable to all its officers in relation to their dealings in the Company’s securities. Its officers are advised not to deal 
in the Company’s shares during the period commencing two weeks or one month before the announcement of the Company’s 
quarterly or full-year results respectively, or if they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the Company.  
All officers and employees are also not allowed to deal in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations, and are expected 
to observe insider trading laws at all times even when dealing in securities within the permitted trading period. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There are no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interests of the Executive Chairman and Group 
CEO, each Director or controlling shareholders, either still subsisting at the end of the financial year or entered into since the end 
of the previous financial year.

INTERESTED PARTY TRANSACTION

The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in a timely manner 
to the AC and that the transactions are at arm’s length basis.  All interested person transactions are subject to review by the AC to 
ensure compliance with established procedures.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2012, the Group did not enter into any transaction that would be regarded as an 
interested person transaction pursuant to SGX-ST's Listing Manual. 
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Description Location
Site area

(sqm)
Existing

use

Approximate
total lettable

area (sqm) Tenure

Group’s 
effective 

interest (%)

Office and factory
building

80 Bendemeer Road
Singapore 339949

17,374 Industrial 36,193 30 years
commencing
from 1 February
2010

100

Factory and 
warehouse 
building

8 Tuas South Lane
Singapore 637302

77,172 Industrial 22,262 30 years
commencing
from 1 April
2008

100

Factory building No. 99 Juli Road
Zhangjiang
High-Tech Park
Pudong Shanghai
China 201203

5,633 Commercial 7,647 50 years
commencing 
from 1 January
2002

100

Office building 1307-1309 Centre
Plaza 188,
Jiefangbei HePing,
District Tianjin,
China 300042

384 Commercial 232 50 years
commencing 
from 12 June
1994

100

Office building 1310-1312 Centre
Plaza 188,
Jiefangbei HePing,
District Tianjin,
China 300042

428 Commercial 257 50 years
commencing 
from 12 June
1994

100

Office and factory 8# Factory in FTZ,
9# Yang Zi Jiang
South Road, Yangzhou
Jiangsu Province,
China 225131

18,040 Commercial 23,115 50 years
commencing 
from 11 
November
2005

100

Office and factory No 99 Tai Zhen Road
Bin Jiang Industrial Park
Taizhou Economic 
Development Zone
Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province
China 225300

25,959 Commercial 12,980 50 years
commencing 
from 15 October
2007

100

Office and factory Long Gang District
Beigang Industrial Park
Long Cheng Road
Huludao City
Liaoning Province
China 125003

112,556 Commercial 93,565 50 years
commencing 
from 31 October 
2006

100
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 11 March 2013

ORDINARY SHARES										        
										        
Class of shares	 :	 Ordinary shares		
Voting rights	 :	 One vote per ordinary share		
Total number of issued ordinary shares	 :	 862,527,739		
No. of  issued ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares)	 :	 825,381,739		
No. of treasury shares and percentage	 :	 37,146,000 (4.31%)		

Distribution of Ordinary Shareholdings

Size of Shareholdings

No. of
Ordinary

Shareholders %

No. of  Ordinary 
Shares (excluding 

Treasury Shares) %

1 - 999 360 2.12 176,709 0.02
1,000 - 10,000 12,922 76.26 59,359,957 7.19
10,001 - 1,000,000 3,633 21.44 119,690,816 14.50
1,000,001 and   above 30 0.18 646,154,257 78.29
Total : 16,945 100.00 825,381,739 100.00

Twenty Largest Shareholders

S/No. Name
No. of

Ordinary Shares %

1. Olivia Lum Ooi Lin 267,351,211 32.39
2. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 139,438,152 16.89
3. Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 53,153,749 6.44
4. HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 48,697,200 5.90
5. DBSN Services Pte Ltd 17,389,516 2.11
6. Nomura Securities Singapore Pte Ltd 15,260,000 1.85
7. Murugasu Deirdre 12,306,267 1.49
8. United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 10,242,413 1.24
9. DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 9,803,025 1.19
10. BNP Paribas Securities Services Singapore Pte Ltd 7,367,671 0.89
11. Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd 7,215,159 0.87
12. UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 5,746,405 0.70
13. Paramount Assets Investments Pte Ltd 5,000,000 0.61
14. Yang Chyan Yeow Aylwin 4,533,000 0.55
15. Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 4,419,893 0.54
16. Foo Hee Kiang 3,953,368 0.48
17. OCBC Nominees Singapore Private Limited 3,914,708 0.47
18. Bank of Singapore Nominees Pte Ltd 3,797,264 0.46
19. OCBC Securities Private Ltd 3,782,271 0.46
20. Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte Ltd 3,736,666 0.45

 Total : 627,107,938 75.98

Approximately  45.83% of the Company’s ordinary shares are held in the hands of the public. 
Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST.
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As at 11 March 2013

6% CUMULATIVE NON-CONVERTIBLE NON-VOTING PERPETUAL CLASS A PREFERENCE SHARES

Distribution of Preference Shareholdings

Size of Shareholdings

No.  of
 Preference 

Shareholders %

No.  of
 Preference 

Shares %

1 - 999 21,802 98.27 1,933,000 48.33
1,000 - 10,000 370 1.67 722,110 18.05
10,001 - 1,000,000 13 0.06 1,344,890 33.62
Total : 22,185 100.00 4,000,000 100.00

Twenty Largest Preference Shareholders

S/No. Name

No. of
 Preference 

Shares %

1. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 537,610 13.44
2. Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 176,490 4.41
3. HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 163,740 4.09
4. Bank of Singapore Nominees Pte Ltd 117,930 2.95
5. Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd 100,600 2.52
6. United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 79,290 1.98
7. BNP Paribas Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 53,420 1.34
8. BNP Paribas Securities Services Singapore Pte Ltd 50,000 1.25
9. E M Services Pte Ltd 17,000 0.43
10. OCBC Nominees Singapore Private Limited 14,430 0.36
11. Ronny Sim 12,010 0.30
12. Committee of The Person and Estate of Lee Henrietta 11,250 0.28
13. DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 11,120 0.28
14. China Taiping Insurance (Singapore) Pte Ltd 10,000 0.25
15. Morgan Stanley Asia (Singapore) Securities Pte Ltd 10,000 0.25
16. OCBC Securities Private Limited 8,220 0.21
17. Olivia Lum Ooi Lin 8,020 0.20
18. Foo Hee Kiang 8,000 0.20
19. Tay Soi Lee @ Tay Lee Tee 8,000 0.20
20. Tay Hui Leng (Zheng Huiling) 7,500 0.19

 Total : 1,404,630 35.13
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SUBSTANTIAL ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS
As at 11 March 2013

Name of Shareholder Direct Interest Deemed Interest %

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin 267,351,211 - 32.39
Mondrian Investment Partners Limited  - 49,848,248¹        6.04
Matthews International Capital Management, LLC - 67,535,030² 8.18
Matthews International Funds - 59,929,280³ 7.26

Note: 
¹     	 Mondrian Investment Partners Limited (“Mondrian”) is a London-based discretionary investment manager. In respect of 

assets managed under investment management agreement between Mondrian and its clients, various clients (in this regard) 
are the beneficial owners of holdings which are held in custody by the client’s own appointed custodian.

²     	 Shares held for the benefit of accounts managed by Matthews International Capital Management, LLC. 

³     	 The amount  reported includes shares reported by Matthews International Capital Management, LLC which act as Investment 
Advisor to the Matthews International Funds and its other clients.  
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Singapore
AcquaSpring Utility (Benghazi) Pte Ltd
AcquaSpring Utility (S) Pte Ltd 
AcquaSpring Utility (Tobruk) Pte Ltd
AcquaSpring Utility (Tripoli East) Pte Ltd
Bendemeer Infrastructure Pte Ltd (formerly known as Sinolac 
(Singapore) Pte Ltd)
Eflux Singapore Pte Ltd
Galaxy NewSpring Capital Pte Ltd 
Galaxy NewSpring Pte Ltd 
Galaxy Operation and Management Pte Ltd
HIH DahejSpring Desalination Pte Ltd
H.J. Technical Consultant Pte Ltd
Hydrochem (S) Pte Ltd
Hydrochem Desalination Technologies (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Hydrochem Engineering (S) Pte Ltd
Hydrochem Membrane Products (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
Hyflux Academy Pte Ltd
Hyflux Aquosus (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Asset Management Pte Ltd
Hyflux Capital (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Cleantech Pte Ltd
Hyflux Consumer Products Pte Ltd
Hyflux Construction Engineering (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Energy Pte Ltd
Hyflux Engineering Pte Ltd
Hyflux EPC Pte Ltd
Hyflux Filtech (Singapore) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Filtration (S) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Innovation Centre Pte Ltd
Hyflux International Engineering Pte Ltd
Hyflux International Pte Ltd
Hyflux IP Resources Pte Ltd
Hyflux Lifestyle Products (S) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Management and Consultancy Pte Ltd
Hyflux Marmon Development Pte Ltd
Hyflux Membrane Manufacturing (S) Pte Ltd
Hyflux O&M Pte Ltd
Hyflux SIP Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility (India) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility (Indonesia) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility (Oman) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility WT (HCWT) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility WTP (DZ) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility WTP (FN) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility WTP (NNWT) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility WWT (HCCJ) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility WWT (HCHX) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility WWT (HCWT) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility WWT (ZY) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Utility WWTP (LP) Pte Ltd

Hyflux Utility WWTP (WH) Pte Ltd
Hyflux Water Trust
Hyflux Water Trust Management Pte Ltd
HyfluxShop Pte Ltd
Kallang Infrastructure Pte Ltd
Kallang Spring Pte Ltd
Marmon Hyflux Investments Pte Ltd
MenaSpring Utility (S) Pte Ltd
MenaSpring Utility (Tlemcen) Pte Ltd
NewSpring Utility Pte Ltd
SingSpring Trust
TuaSpring Pte Ltd

People's Republic of China
Beijing Shouren Water Engineering Co., Ltd
Eflux (Taizhou) Co., Ltd
Galaxy Operation and Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
Hydrochem Engineering (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
Hydrochem Desalination Technologies (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
Hydrochem Membrane and Membrane Products (Shanghai) 
Co., Ltd
Hyflux (Tianjin) Sewage Disposal Co., Ltd
Hyflux (Zunyi) Sewage Disposal Co., Ltd
Hyflux Caojie Sewage Disposal (Chongqing) Co., Ltd
Hyflux Engineering Design (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
Hyflux Engineering (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
Hyflux Filtech (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
Hyflux GaoYang Sewage Disposal (ChongQing) Co., Ltd
Hyflux Hi-tech Product (Yangzhou) Co., Ltd
Hyflux Investment Consultancy and Management Service 
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Changshu) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Dafeng) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Dezhou) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Funing) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Guanyun) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Leping) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Liaoyang) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (LiaoYangGongChangLing) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Nantong) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Nantong) WT Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Nantong) WWT Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Taizhou) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Taoyuan) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Tiantai) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Wuxi) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Wuhu) Co., Ltd.
Hyflux NewSpring (Yangzhou) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring (Zunhua) Co., Ltd
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HYFLUX GROUP OF COMPANIES 

Hyflux NewSpring Construction Engineering (Shanghai) 
Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring Sewage Disposal (Guanyun) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring Sewage Disposal (Rudong) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring Sewage Disposal (Funing) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring Water Treatment (Leping) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring Waste Water Treatment (Mingguang) 
Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring Water Treatment (Mingguang) Co., Ltd
Hyflux NewSpring Weituo WT (Chongqing) Co., Ltd.
Hyflux Newspring WT (Dafeng) Co., Ltd
Hyflux Salt Industry Technology Development (Tianjin) Co., Ltd
Hyflux Unitech (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
Hyflux Weituo Sewage Disposal (Chongqing) Co., Ltd
Hyfluxshop (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
Kunshan Eco Water Systems Co., Ltd
Langfang Hyflux NewSpring Co., Ltd
Ningxia Hypow Bio-Technology Co., Ltd
Sinolac (Huludao) Biotech Co., Ltd
Tianjin Dagang NewSpring Co., Ltd
Wuxi Hyflux NewSpring Sewage Disposal Co., Ltd

Hong Kong
H.J. NewSpring Limited
Hyflux Utility Water Limited 
Hyflux Utility (DF) Limited
Hyflux Utility (HLD) Limited
Hyflux Utility (LP) Limited 
Hyflux Utility (PJ) Limited
Hyflux Utility (TJ) Limited
Hyflux Utility (TY) Limited
Hyflux Utility (WX) Limited 
Hyflux Utility (YK) Limited  
Hyflux Utility (YL) Limited
Hyflux Utility WT (GCL) Limited 
Hyflux Utility WT (LY) Limited 
Hyflux Utility WT (MG) Limited  
Hyflux Utility WT (XC) Limited
Hyflux Utility WT (YL) Limited
Hyflux Utility WT (YKG) Limited
Hyflux Utility WTP (GY) Limited 
Hyflux Utility WWT (BC) Limited
Hyflux Utility WWT (GY) Limited
Hyflux Utility WWT (MG) Limited
Hyflux Utility WWT (XC) Limited 
Hyflux Utility WWT (YL) Limited
Hyflux Utility WWT (YKG) Limited
Hyflux Utility WWTP (GY) Limited

British Virgin Islands
Hyflux Advanced Technology Ltd
Hyflux International Ltd
Hyflux Utility Ltd
Hyflux Water Projects Ltd
IndoSpring Utility Ltd
SinoSpring Utility Ltd
Spring China Utility Ltd
Spring Environment Ltd
Spring Utility Ltd

Europe
France
Tlemcen Desalination Investment Company SAS
Hyflux France SAS

Netherlands
Hyflux CEPAration B.V.
Hyflux CEPAration Technologies (Europe) B.V.

Netherlands Antilles
Hyflux CEPAration N.V. 

India
Hyflux Technology India Private Limited (formerly known as 
Eflux Oil India Private Limited)
Hyflux Engineering (India) Private Limited
Hyflux Lifestyle Products (India) Private Limited
Swarnim DahejSpring Desalination Private Limited

Malaysia
Hyflux (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

MENA
Algeria
Almiyah Attilemcania SPA
Hyflux Engineering Algeria EURL
Hyflux Operation & Maintenance Algeria EURL
Hyflux-TJSB Algeria SPA
Tahlyat Myah Magtaa SPA

Saudi Arabia
Lube Oil Re-refining Company

Cayman Islands
Hyflux Asset Investment (CWF) Ltd
Hyflux Asset Management (CWF) Ltd
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Board of Directors

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin (Executive Chairman and Group CEO)
Teo Kiang Kok (Lead Independent Director)
Lee Joo Hai (Non-Executive Independent Director)
Gay Chee Cheong (Non-Executive Independent Director)
Christopher Murugasu (Non-Executive Independent Director)
Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta (Non-Executive Independent Director)
Simon Tay (Non-Executive Independent Director)
Gary Kee Eng Kwee (Non-Executive Non-Independent Director)

Management Committee 

Olivia Lum Ooi Lin (Chairman)
Sam Ong 
Cho Wee Peng
Winnifred Heap
Oon Jin Teik
Andrew Ngiam
Peter Wu

Company Secretary

Lim Poh Fong

Registered Office

80 Bendemeer Road
Hyflux Innovation Centre
Singapore 339949
Tel : 65 6214 0777
Fax :65 6214 1211

Auditors

KPMG LLP
16 Raffles Quay #22-00
Hong Leong Building 
Singapore 048581

Partner-in-charge (since 2010):
Lau Kam Yuen

Registrar 

Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte Ltd
50 Raffles Place
#32-01 Singapore Land Tower
Singapore 048623

Board Committees:

Audit Committee
Lee Joo Hai (Chairman)
Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta 
Gay Chee Cheong
Gary Kee Eng Kwee

Nominating Committee
Teo Kiang Kok (Chairman)
Olivia Lum Ooi Lin
Gay Chee Cheong
Christopher Murugasu

Remuneration Committee
Gay Chee Cheong (Chairman)
Teo Kiang Kok
Lee Joo Hai
Christopher Murugasu

Risk Management Committee
Rajsekar Kuppuswami Mitta (Chairman)
Teo Kiang Kok
Lee Joo Hai
Simon Tay 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Bankers
Agricultural Bank of China Limited,
Singapore Branch
7 Temasek Boulevard
#30-01/02/03 Suntec Tower 1
Singapore 038987

Arab Bank Plc, Singapore
80 Raffles Place
#32-20 UOB Plaza 2
Singapore 048624

Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C)
9 Raffles Place
#60-03 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Australia and New Zealand
Banking Group Limited, Singapore 
Branch
10 Collyer Quay,
#30-00 Ocean Financial Centre
Singapore 049315

Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited
180 Cecil Street
Bangkok Bank Building
Singapore 069546

Bank of China Limited, Singapore Branch
4 Battery Road, 15th Floor
Bank of China Building
Singapore 049908

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd,
Singapore Branch
50 Raffles Place
#18-01 Singapore Tower
Singapore 048623

Bank of Taiwan, Singapore Branch
80 Raffles Place
#28-20 UOB Plaza 2
Singapore 048624

BNP Paribas, Singapore Branch
10 Collyer Quay #34-01
Ocean Financial Centre
Singapore 049315

Chang Hwa Commercial Bank Ltd,
Singapore Branch
No. 1 Finlayson Green, #08-00
Singapore 049246

Chinatrust Commercial Bank Co., Ltd,
Singapore Branch
8 Marina View #33-02
Asia Square Tower One
Singapore 018960

China International Capital Corporation 
(Singapore) Pte. Limited
6 Battery Road #39-04
Singapore 049909

CIMB Bank Berhad, Singapore Branch
50 Raffles Place
#09-01 Singapore Land Tower
Singapore 048623

Citibank, N.A.
8 Marina View
#21-01 Asia Square Tower 1
Singapore 018960

Credit Agricole Corporate & Investment 
Bank, Singapore Branch
168 Robinson Road
#22-01 Capital Tower
Singapore 068912

DBS Bank Ltd
12 Marina Boulevard
DBS Asia Central @ Marina Bay Financial 
Centre Tower 3 
Singapore 018982

First Commercial Bank, Singapore 
Branch
77 Robinson Road #01-01
Singapore 068896

ICICI Bank Limited
9 Raffles Place #50-01
Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

ING Bank N.V., Singapore Branch
9 Raffles Place, #19-02 Republic Plaza,
Singapore 048619

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 
Corporation Limited
21 Collyer Quay #01-00 
HSBC Building
Singapore 049320

Japan Bank for International 
Cooperation
9 Raffles Place #51-02
Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
168 Robinson Road, 17th Floor
Capital Tower,
Singapore 068912

Land Bank of Taiwan, Singapore Branch
80 Raffles Place
#34-01 UOB Plaza 1
Singapore 048624

Malayan Banking Berhad
2 Battery Road 
Maybank Tower 
Singapore 049907

Mega International Commercial Bank 
Co.,Ltd., Singapore Branch
80 Raffles Place

#23-20 UOB Plaza II
Singapore 048624

Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd.,
Singapore Branch
168 Robinson Road
Capital Tower #13-00
Singapore 068912

Natixis, Singapore Branch
50 Raffles Place
#41-01 Singapore Land Tower
Singapore 048623

Norddeutsche Landesbank Girozentrale,
Singapore Branch
6 Shenton Way #16-00
DBS Building Tower 2
Singapore 068809

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation
Limited
65 Chulia Street
OCBC Centre
Singapore 049513

RHB Bank Berhad
90 Cecil Street #03-00
RHB Bank Building
Singapore 069531

Standard Chartered Bank
8 Marina Boulevard, Level 24
Marina Bay Financial Centre (Tower 1)
Singapore 018981

State Bank of India
135 Cecil Street #01-00
Singapore 069536

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, 
Singapore Branch
3 Temasek Avenue #06-01
Centennial Tower
Singapore 039190

The Bank of East Asia Limited,
Singapore Branch
137 Market Street
BEA Building
Singapore 048943

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.
Singapore Branch
9 Raffles Place #01-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc
Level 23, One Raffles Quay
South Tower
Singapore 048583

United Overseas Bank Limited
1 Raffles Place
OUB Centre
Singapore 048616
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Hyflux Ltd
80 Bendemeer Road 
Hyflux Innovation Centre
Singapore 339949
www.hyflux.com
 
Company reg. no.: 200002722Z




